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Shareholder Information

Reports and Publications

Copies of the Annual Report, Form 10-K and Form 10-Q may be

obtained by written request to Mark Lindley, Director, Corporate

Communications, at the corporate headquarters address, by 

calling (708) 563-5399 or by visiting the Company’s Web site,

http://www.cornproducts.com.

Institutional Investor Inquiries

Securities analysts and investors seeking information about Corn

Products International, Inc. may contact Richard M. Vandervoort 

by writing to the corporate headquarters address or by calling

(708) 551-2595.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street - 11E

New York, New York 10286

(866) 517-4574 in the United States or (610) 312-5303 outside of 

the United States. 

E-mail address: shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

Internet address: http://www.stockbny.com

Shareholder Inquiries

Inquiries regarding dividend payments, loss or non-receipt of a

dividend check, stock transfers (including name changes, gifts

and inheritances), lost stock certificates, Form 1099 information

and address changes should be directed to the Registrar and

Transfer Agent as listed above.

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

303 East Wacker Drive

Chicago, Illinois 60601

(312) 665-1000

Stock Exchange Listing

The Company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the

symbol CPO.

Corporate Headquarters

Corn Products International, Inc.

5 Westbrook Corporate Center

Westchester, Illinois 60154

(708) 551-2600

Internet Address

http://www.cornproducts.com

On June 11, 2004, we submitted to the New York Stock Exchange 

a certification signed by our Chief Executive Officer that as of

June 10, 2004, he was not aware of any violation by us of the

NYSE corporate governance listing standards. In addition, the 

certifications signed by our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief

Financial Officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act were filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K 

for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Corn Products International, Inc., is a leading provider of agriculturally based ingredients to a wide variety of industries around the world.

Headquartered in Westchester, Illinois, our Company is the world’s largest producer of dextrose and a leading regional manufacturer of

starches, glucose, syrups and other ingredients found in literally thousands of products. We supply customers in a number of industries,

including food, beverage, animal nutrition and health, pharmaceutical, brewing, corrugated, paper and textile.

Our Mission

To become the premier

regional provider of refined,

agriculturally derived products

and ingredients worldwide

Our Core Values

– Integrity

– Excellence

– Respect

– Financial Success

Our Strategy

– Excel at the base business

– Selectively drive organic

growth in the base business

– Expand our value-added 

product portfolio through

multi-geographic alliances and

acquisitions across the Corn

Products International world

– Grow defensible businesses

in new high-growth regions

by extending and establishing

critical mass

– Be an ingredients supplier 
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Financial Highlights

Corn Products International     1

Net Sales
( in mil l ions)

’04

Operating Income
( in mil l ions)

’04

Earnings per Share
(di luted)

’04

$1,871

$2,102
$2,283

$153

$174 $179

$0.89*

$1.25*

$1.06*

5.2

5.9

6.6

Return on Capital Employed**

(%)

’04’03 ’03 ’03 ’03’02 ’02 ’02 ’02

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

Operating Results
Net sales $2,283 $2,102 $1,871
Operating income 179 174 153
Net income 94 76 63

Diluted Earnings per Share
Earnings per share 1.25 1.06 0.89

Balance Sheet and Other Data
Cash flow from operations 166 236 206
Capital expenditures 104 83 78
Total assets 2,367 2,216 2,068
Total debt 568 550 600
Total equity (including redeemable equity) 1,114 978 828

**See also the “Key Performance Metrics”
section of the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations on page 22.

*Post two-for-one split
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By virtually every measurement, our financial performance in

2004 eclipsed our record-setting year of 2003. Volumes increased,

led by particularly impressive gains in South America and assisted

by the sale of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) to certain beverage

customers in Mexico. Net sales rose 9 percent to $2.3 billion,

operating income increased 3 percent to $179 million and net

income climbed 24 percent to $94 million – all of which were

new records.  

This financial performance, combined with our efforts to

strengthen our balance sheet and reinvest in our business, gen-

erated an 18 percent increase in diluted earnings per share over

2003 levels. We also raised our quarterly dividend by 17 percent,

and in December we announced a two-for-one stock split.

On a regional basis, volume gains in North America and

improved pricing in the United States and Canada helped sales

to grow 7 percent. Operating income increased by 28 percent. 

South America continues to be an ongoing success story.

Volume gains of nearly 8 percent, along with stronger local

currencies, drove a 12 percent increase in net sales. Operating

income climbed 18 percent over the previous year.

Dear Shareholder: I am pleased to report that 2004
was a year of significant accomplishment for Corn
Products International. Building on the momentum
we established in 2003 with the introduction of our
multiple pathway strategy – and using our core values
of Integrity, Excellence, Respect and Financial Success
as a foundation – we achieved or surpassed a number
of financial goals while at the same time setting the
stage for long-term, sustainable growth.

Letter to Shareholders

2 Corn Products International
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Corn Products International   3

Asia/Africa, the region that represents our greatest growth

potential, struggled somewhat in 2004, primarily due to higher

raw material costs in the region. Net sales, spurred by higher

pricing and stronger local currencies, climbed 11 percent.

Operating income declined 11 percent, due primarily to the

higher raw material costs.

Along with our record financial performance, 2004 was 

noteworthy for the steps we took in two key areas: maximizing 

our operational effectiveness in order to become a stronger,

more efficient organization; and laying the foundation for 

continued growth.

The manufacturing optimization plan that we enacted last year

allowed us to shutter two of our older, less efficient corn-refining

facilities in Mexico and Colombia and transfer production to

more modern plants within our network. 

We also sold our investment in NSK, a Japanese corn refiner,

which netted us approximately $21 million and provided us with

greater strategic freedom in our Asia/Africa region. 

During the year, we brought on line our new plant in Pakistan,

our second facility in that country. We also broke ground on the

new boiler at our Argo facility in the United States. 

In terms of future growth, we acquired the outstanding interest

in our Korean joint venture, Doosan Corn Products, and renamed

the business Corn Products Korea, underscoring our continued

faith in the long-term growth prospects for this region.

In total, we reinvested more than $172 million in our global

business in 2004.

In line with our pathway strategy, last year we extended our

reach into important new markets and new geographies. We

acquired a majority interest in GTC Nutrition, a Colorado-based

company that supplies short-chain fructooligosaccharides

(scFOS) and other ingredients found in a variety of sport drinks,

soy and dairy products, medical foods, nutritional supplements,

and animal foods and feeds. We are currently building a new

scFOS production line at our London plant in Canada; when

completed, it will be the only scFOS manufacturing site in 

North America.

During 2004, we introduced new products for the animal

nutrition, personal care and healthcare markets into our South

American region. At the same time, our Center of Excellence 

in Jundiai, Brazil, which acts as our Company-wide ingredient

development center, explored new applications for current ingre-

dients and developed new ingredients to add to our portfolio.

Later in the year, we established our first manufacturing 

presence in China with the creation of a new joint venture,

Shouguang Golden Far East Modified Starch Ltd. This business 

will provide modified corn starches to the rapidly growing

Chinese market. 

OUTLOOK

We expect that 2005 will be another successful year for Corn

Products International. We anticipate that performance in North

America will continue to improve, assisted by the resumption of

shipments of HFCS to certain bottlers in Mexico and our ongoing

cost-management programs. South America is on track to have

another good year; improving economies in that region should

benefit our already strong business. In Asia/Africa, we should

enjoy the benefits from improving economies and a full year of

production from our second plant in Pakistan. Our new manufac-

turing foothold in China also sets the stage for future growth.

Finally, I want to mention one other factor that, as always, 

represents the real key to our success: the extraordinary people

of Corn Products International. We are fortunate to have an

incredibly talented and dedicated group of more than 7,000

employees within our manufacturing facilities, sales offices,

headquarters and business centers around our world. They are

the reason that we performed so well in 2004 – and the reason

that we remain so optimistic about our future prospects.

As always, I want to thank the many people – our customers,

shareholders, suppliers and neighbors – who have been respon-

sible for our continued success. I look forward to working with

you again in 2005 as we continue our exciting journey together.

Samuel C. Scott III

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer

69822 Pg2_3  3/17/05  10:38 AM  Page 3



4 Corn Products International

Net sales up 9%: a new record.

Operating income up 3% to $179 million.

Net income up 24% to $94 million.

Return on Capital Employed up 12% to 6.6%.

Diluted earnings per share up 18%.
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Corn Products International     5

Strength. It’s what allows companies to make the
most of opportunities. Overcome challenges. And
reach their greatest potential.

Corn Products International is growing stronger.
We are deploying our multiple pathway strategy
designed to solidify and expand our base business…
focus on markets that offer the greatest potential
for growth…branch out into new geographies…and
develop new ingredient solutions for our customers.

We are traveling a path that we believe will make
Corn Products International a more dynamic 
company. A company with a stronger foundation.
Stronger partnerships. A stronger balance sheet.
And a stronger future for us all. 
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Corn Products International     7

Pathway 1: Excel at the base business.

Our base business is the bedrock of all that we do. For nearly a century, this business has provided the 

ingredients that our customers rely upon to bring their products to market in more than 70 nations around

the world. 

Today, Corn Products is working hard to make its base business excel as never before. How? By bringing

together virtually every aspect of our worldwide operations – from purchasing, manufacturing and engineering

to sales, marketing, customer service, information technology and strategic planning – to work as one to

determine how to best deliver our high-quality ingredients quickly, efficiently and cost-effectively. 

Through our Technology Task Force and our virtual engineering teams, we are accelerating the sharing of

technologies and best practices across our global network, all in an effort to optimize our manufacturing capa-

bilities. And our sales and marketing teams are reaching across borders to share product information and offer

our ingredients to customers throughout our global marketplace. It’s all part of our plan to continue our focus

on local execution while reaping the benefits of operating as a global company.

Long-term success can grow only from a solid foun-
dation. That is why Corn Products International’s
strategic pathway begins with programs and initiatives
designed to ensure that its base business operates at
peak effectiveness.

From sales and logistics to manufacturing and service, we work together to make our base business excel.
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8 Corn Products International

Pathway 2: Selectively grow the base business.

The key to growing our base business is to focus our energies on strategically important markets, customers,

geographies and ingredients, then to leverage our strengths to build our brands on a global, regional and

country basis.

Today, our Market Segmentation strategy is identifying a number of key markets and customers that we

believe offer the greatest opportunity for growth. These are the markets and customers that best fit our assets,

current (and future) ingredient portfolio, operating philosophy and long-term plans. During 2004 we established

cross-functional teams that are focusing on expanding our presence – and driving our success – in these markets.

At the same time, our Global Product Management team is developing strategies that allow us to market 

our products across a global platform, offering a wider variety of ingredients to a greater number of customers

around the world. And, our global Center of Excellence in Brazil serves as a single source of innovation and

development for our entire company, working to find new applications for existing ingredients, as well as 

to develop new ingredients for our customers.

Organic growth doesn’t happen overnight. It springs
from roots that have been established through years
of effort and innovation. Expanding our thriving,
100-year-old base business in selected locations is a
big step down our path toward sustained growth.

Corn Products International has established a strategy to selectively grow its base business over the long term.
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Corn Products International     11

Pathway 3: Expand our portfolio through multi-geographic alliances, ventures and acquisitions.

Our customers face a never-ending challenge of developing new products for a marketplace hungry for inno-

vations. Corn Products International is helping them meet this challenge by providing them with a wider variety

of comprehensive ingredient solutions.  We routinely take advantage of our multinational structure, exporting

successful ingredients from one region to another. We’ve also been successful in forming strong alliances,

establishing joint ventures and making strategic acquisitions that broaden our portfolio.

Creating successful business relationships has always been an important part of our Company’s history.

Today, we continue to build on that tradition by expanding both our geographic reach and our product

offerings. Our alliance with GTC Nutrition, which we entered into last year, brings to our Company a variety

of products designed to provide a number of health and nutrition benefits. This alliance enhances our product

offerings to a number of attractive markets, including the pharmaceutical, nutritional supplement, and pet

and animal food industries.

New products. New partners. New opportunities.
Corn Products International is expanding its portfolio,
finding new uses for our current ingredients and
expanding on our heritage of developing businesses
with our partners.

With its ingredients already staples in literally thousands of products, our Company is entering into new alliances to expand its portfolio.
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12 Corn Products International

The Company’s fourth strategic pathway calls for it to invest in new markets and new geographies that offer 

significant growth opportunities.

Perhaps no other region in the world can match the growth potential of Asia. In 2004, Corn Products

International expanded its presence in this strategic region. We brought on line our second plant in Pakistan;

we acquired the remaining shares of our South Korean business; and we set the stage for future growth

when we joined forces with a new partner and created our first manufacturing presence in China.

No matter where we travel in our journey toward future growth, we plan to follow the strategy that has

proven so successful in the past: staff our businesses with local personnel who understand their cultures,

markets and customers better than anyone. This unique operating structure gives Corn Products International

a competitive edge in these markets. 

Successful businesses go where the greatest opportu-
nities present themselves. Few companies can match
Corn Products International’s successful track record
of entering high-potential new markets and regions
quickly and efficiently.

In 2004, Corn Products International established its first manufacturing presence in China.

Pathway 4: Grow businesses in new high-growth regions.
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Corn Products International plays a vital role in the
world’s commerce. We make your foods and bever-
ages taste better. We are in the baby powder in your
nursery; the health drink you have for breakfast; 
the sport drink you reach for after a workout; the
vitamins and antibiotics in your medicine cabinet;
the boxes delivered to your door; the pet food in
your pantry; the animal feed at nearby farms; and 
so much more.

Today, our Company is implementing a strategy that
seeks to blend our base business with new ingredient
solutions. It is a strategy that we believe will lead to
greater value for all of our stakeholders: our customers,
consumers, employees and shareholders.

Pathway 5: Become an ingredient supplier.
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16 Corn Products International

Facilities

Corn Products International operates 27 plants in
13 countries. Alliances and technical licensing 
agreements extend our global reach even further. 

Corn Products International’s North American presence is composed of businesses in Canada, Mexico and 

the United States. Our Company is the only North American corn refiner with full-scale sweetener and starch

facilities in all three North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) countries.

Our Company’s South American business spans Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador and Uruguay.

This presence makes Corn Products International the largest corn refiner in the region by far, with outstanding

market shares in the countries where we produce. Joint ventures and alliances enhance our Company’s 

leadership position. 

Our Asia/Africa division operates with grind-capacity leadership or top-tier production rank in South

Korea, Pakistan, Thailand and Kenya. A sales and marketing business in Malaysia and technical licensing

agreements in South Africa and Zimbabwe extend Corn Products International’s reach in this operating

region, and its new manufacturing business in China positions the Company for continued growth.

North America

Canada

Mexico

United States

South America

Argentina

Brazil

Chile

Colombia

Ecuador

Asia/Africa

China

Kenya

Pakistan

South Korea

Thailand

Technical Licensing
Agreements

South Africa

Venezuela

Zimbabwe

69822 Pg4_16  3/17/05  9:04 AM  Page 16



Corn Products International, Inc.     17

Overview and Outlook 
We are a leading regional producer of starches, liquid sweeten-
ers and other ingredients around the world. We are one of the
world’s largest corn refiners and the leading corn refiner in Latin
America. The corn refining industry is highly competitive. Many
of our products are viewed as commodities that compete with
virtually identical products manufactured by other companies 
in the industry. However, we have twenty-seven manufacturing
plants located throughout North America, South America and
Asia/Africa and we manage and operate our businesses at a local
level. We believe this approach provides us with a unique under-
standing of the cultures and product requirements in each of the
geographic markets in which we operate, bringing added value
to our customers. Our sweeteners are found in products such as
baked goods, candies, chewing gum, dairy products and ice cream,
soft drinks and beer. Our starches are a staple of the food, paper,
textile and corrugating industries.

Critical success factors in our business include managing 
our significant manufacturing cost, including corn and utilities. 
In addition, due to our global operations, we are exposed to fluc-
tuations in foreign currency exchange rates, as well as to changes
in interest rates. We use derivative financial instruments, when
appropriate, for the purpose of minimizing the risks and/or costs
associated with fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign exchange
rates and interest rates. Also, the corn wet milling industry is
capital intensive and requires that we generate significant cash
flow on a yearly basis in order to selectively reinvest in the business
and grow organically, as well as through strategic acquisitions
and alliances. We utilize certain key metrics relating to working
capital, debt and return on capital employed to monitor our
progress toward achieving our strategic business objectives 
(see section entitled “Key Performance Metrics”).

The year 2004 was an excellent year for Corn Products
International, Inc. as we achieved record highs for net sales,
operating income, net income and diluted earnings per common
share, despite the recording of a $21 million (pretax) restructuring
charge for plant closings. We also generated strong operating cash
flows that we used to grow our business, increase our dividend
and enhance our liquidity. Additionally, we continued to make
significant progress toward our goal of earning returns that meet
and ultimately exceed our cost of capital. 

In North America, operating income grew 28 percent from a
year ago primarily due to improved performance in Canada and
Mexico. Late in the third quarter we began to sell high fructose
corn syrup (“HFCS”) to certain beverage customers in Mexico
despite the continuation of the discriminatory tax on beverages
sweetened with HFCS in that country. These sales are continuing.
While we are encouraged by the resumption of HFCS sales to cer-
tain beverage customers in Mexico, we continue to work towards
a repeal of this tax (see section entitled “Mexican Tax on Beverages
Sweetened With HFCS”). In South America, operating income
increased 18 percent, driven principally by earnings growth in
Brazil. In Asia/Africa, operating income fell 11 percent, primarily
reflecting lower results in South Korea. 

In 2005, we plan to continue to focus on increasing our prof-
itability and cash flow through business growth and gaining
operating efficiencies across our global operations, while maintain-
ing a strong balance sheet. We anticipate that operating income
for 2005 will grow over 2004 (exclusive of the aforementioned
$21 million restructuring charge), although the rate of such growth
may not be as strong as that achieved in 2004. We currently believe
that 2005 net income will improve over 2004. 

Results of Operations
On December 1, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors declared
a two-for-one stock split effected as a 100-percent stock dividend
on the Company’s common stock. The dividend shares were issued
on January 25, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close of busi-
ness on January 4, 2005. Accordingly, all share and per share data
for the periods presented in this report have been retroactively
adjusted to reflect the stock split.

2004 Compared to 2003
Net income Net income for 2004 increased 24 percent to $94 mil-
lion, or $1.25 per diluted common share, from 2003 net income of
$76 million, or $1.06 per diluted common share. The 2004 results
include a restructuring charge for plant closures of $21 million
($15 million after-tax) relating to the Company’s manufacturing opti-
mization initiative in Mexico and South America, which consists
of a $19 million write-off of fixed assets and a $2 million charge
for employee termination costs. See also Note 6 of the Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The increase in net income for 2004 over 2003 primarily reflects
improved operating income, reduced financing costs, a lower
effective income tax rate and a reduction in the minority interest
in earnings. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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18 Corn Products International, Inc.

Net sales Net sales for 2004 increased to $2.28 billion from 
$2.10 billion in 2003, as sales grew in each of our regions. 

A summary of net sales by geographic region is shown below:

(in millions) 2004 2003 Increase % Change

North America $1,419 $1,329 $««90 7%

South America 556 495 61 12%

Asia/Africa 308 278 30 11%

Total $2,283 $2,102 $181 9%

The increase in net sales reflects volume growth of 4 percent,
price/product mix improvement of 2 percent, and a 3 percent
increase from currency translation attributable to stronger foreign
currencies relative to the US dollar. 

Sales in North America increased 7 percent, reflecting volume
growth of 3 percent, price/product mix improvement of 2 percent,
and a 2 percent increase associated with currency translation
attributable to a stronger Canadian dollar. Sales in South America
increased 12 percent, driven by volume growth of 7 percent and
a 6 percent increase attributable to stronger foreign currencies,
which more than offset a 1 percent price/product mix decline.
Sales in Asia/Africa increased 11 percent, reflecting price/product
mix improvement of 9 percent and a 2 percent increase attrib-
utable to stronger Asian currencies. Volume in the region was
relatively unchanged from 2003. 

Cost of sales Cost of sales for 2004 increased 9 percent to 
$1.93 billion from $1.78 billion in 2003. The increase was principally
due to volume growth and higher corn and energy costs. Our
gross profit margin for 2004 was 15 percent, consistent with last
year, as improved margins in North America and South America
offset lower margins in Asia/Africa. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses Selling, general
and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for 2004 increased 6 per-
cent to $158 million from $149 million in 2003, due primarily to
higher compensation-related expenses and increased corporate
governance costs related to the implementation of the provisions
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. SG&A expenses for 2004 rep-
resented 7 percent of net sales, consistent with the prior year. 

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates and other income
(expense) – net Earnings from non-controlled affiliates and other
income (expense) – net for 2004 increased $5 million from 2003,
primarily reflecting a $1 million gain from the sale of an investment
in 2004 and the recording, in 2003, of various asset write-downs
aggregating $3 million. 

Operating income A summary of operating income is 
shown below:

Favorable Favorable
(Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

(in millions) 2004 2003 Variance % Change

North America $««87 $÷68 $«19 28

South America 98 83 15 18

Asia/Africa 48 54 (6) (11)

Corporate expenses (33) (31) (2) (6)

Total $200 $174 $«26 15

Plant closing costs (a) (21) – (21) (100)

Operating income $179 $174 $«««5 3

Includes a $19 million write-off of fixed assets and a $2 million charge for employee termination
costs pertaining to the Company’s manufacturing optimization initiative in Mexico and South
America. See also Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Operating income for 2004, including the $21 million restructur-
ing charge for plant closures, increased 3 percent to $179 million
from $174 million in 2003. Excluding the restructuring charge,
operating income increased 15 percent from 2003 driven by
earnings growth in North America and South America. North
America operating income increased 28 percent from a year ago
primarily due to improved performance in Canada and Mexico.
Additionally, operating income in the region benefited from 
new legislation in Mexico that allowed us to reduce an existing
employee benefit accrual by $2.6 million. The earnings increase
in Mexico partially reflects increased sales of HFCS which, as
previously mentioned, increased late in third quarter 2004 and are
continuing, despite that country’s tax on beverages sweetened
with HFCS. See also section entitled “Mexican Tax on Beverages
Sweetened with HFCS.” South America operating income increased
18 percent from 2003, principally reflecting significantly higher
earnings in Brazil, where robust economic growth has resulted 
in strong demand for our products. Asia/Africa operating income
declined 11 percent from a year ago, principally due to an earnings
decline in South Korea, where lower sales volume attributable 
to a weak economy and higher corn costs unfavorably affected
our business. 

Financing costs – net Financing costs – net declined to $34 mil-
lion in 2004 from $39 million in 2003. The decrease primarily
reflects lower interest costs attributable to reduced indebtedness
and an increase in interest income. An increase in foreign currency
transaction losses of approximately $1 million partially offset the
lower interest costs. 

Provision for income taxes Our effective income tax rate was 
30 percent in 2004 as compared to 36 percent in 2003. The decrease
mainly reflects a reduction in foreign income taxes attributable 
to a statutory rate reduction and a favorable tax ruling in Mexico.
Additionally, a statutory rate reduction in South Korea also 
contributed to the lower effective tax rate. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

%

%

%

%

%

%

%

(a)
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Minority interest in earnings Minority interest in earnings declined
to $8 million in 2004 from $10 million in 2003. The decline from
2003 mainly reflects the effect of our March 2003 purchase of 
the remaining interest in our now wholly-owned Southern Cone
of South America business and lower earnings in South Korea, 
partially offset by increased earnings in Pakistan. 

Comprehensive income (loss) We recorded comprehensive
income of $116 million in 2004, as compared with comprehensive
income of $151 million in 2003. This decrease primarily reflects
losses on cash flow hedges, which more than offset increased
net income. 

2003 Compared to 2002
Net income Net income for 2003 increased 21 percent to 
$76 million, or $1.06 per diluted common share, from 2002 net
income of $63 million, or $0.89 per diluted common share. The
2002 results include $8 million ($5 million after-tax) of net non-
recurring earnings consisting primarily of a gain from the sale of
a business unit, net of certain one-time charges, and the impact
from the December 2002 dissolution of CornProductsMCP
Sweeteners LLC (“CPMCP”). 

The increase in net income for 2003 over 2002 primarily reflects
significantly improved operating income in South America and
North America, which more than offset increased corporate
expenses, higher financing costs and an increase in the provision
for income taxes. A reduction in the minority interest in earnings
also contributed to the improvement in net income. 

Net sales Net sales for 2003 increased to $2.10 billion from 
$1.87 billion in 2002, as sales grew in each of our regions. 

A summary of net sales by geographic region is shown below:

(in millions) 2003 2002 Increase % Change

North America $1,329 $1,219 $110 9%

South America 495 401 94 23%

Asia/Africa 278 251 27 11%

Total $2,102 $1,871 $231 12%

The increase in net sales reflects price/product mix improve-
ment of 9 percent, 2 percent volume growth and a 1 percent
increase from currency translation attributable to stronger foreign
currencies relative to the US dollar. 

Sales in North America increased 9 percent, reflecting a 7 per-
cent price/product mix improvement and a 2 percent increase
associated with currency translation attributable to a stronger
Canadian dollar. Volume in the region was relatively unchanged
from 2002. Sales in South America increased 23 percent, driven
by price/product mix improvement of 22 percent and 7 percent

volume growth, partially offset by a 6 percent reduction attributa-
ble to weaker local currencies. Sales in Asia/Africa increased 
11 percent, reflecting 7 percent volume growth, due in part to the
start-up of our Thailand operation, and a 4 percent improvement
attributable to stronger local currencies. Price/product mix in the
region was down slightly from 2002. 

Cost of sales Cost of sales for 2003 increased 11 percent to 
$1.78 billion from $1.60 billion in 2002. The increase was princi-
pally due to higher corn costs and improved volumes. Our gross
profit margin for 2003 rose to 15 percent from 14 percent in 2002,
primarily reflecting improved operating margins in South America
as we recovered strongly from the economic volatility of 2002.
Improved operating margins in North America, reflecting higher
product selling prices and cost reductions attributable to prior-
year restructuring activities, also contributed to the increased
gross profit margin for the Company. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses SG&A expenses 
for 2003 increased 11 percent to $149 million from $134 million in
2002, due primarily to higher insurance premiums, increased com-
pensation-related expenses and increased corporate governance
costs associated with the implementation of the provisions of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. SG&A expenses for 2002 included 
$3 million of non-recurring costs. SG&A expenses for 2003 repre-
sented 7 percent of net sales, consistent with the prior year. 

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates and other income
(expense) – net Earnings from non-controlled affiliates and other
income (expense) – net for 2003 decreased $21 million from 2002,
primarily reflecting a reduction in earnings from non-controlled
affiliates attributable to the cessation of CPMCP, various asset
write-downs aggregating $3 million in 2003, and the recording in
2002 of an $8 million gain from the sale of Enzyme-Bio Systems
Ltd. and a $3 million gain from the dissolution of CPMCP. 

Operating income A summary of operating income is 
shown below: 

Favorable Favorable
(Unfavorable) (Unfavorable)

(in millions) 2003 2002 Variance % Change

North America $÷68 $««56 $12 21

South America 83 58 25 43

Asia/Africa 54 54 – –

Corporate expenses (31) (23)) (8) (35)

Total $174 $145 $29 20

Non-recurring items, net – 8 (8) (100)

Operating income $174 $153 $21 14

Corn Products International, Inc.     19
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Operating income for 2003 increased 14 percent to $174 million
from $153 million in 2002, driven by substantial earnings growth
in North America and South America. North America operating
income increased 21 percent from 2002 primarily due to signifi-
cantly higher earnings in the United States, where operating
margins benefited from higher product selling prices and cost-
reduction programs. Additionally, increased operating income for
Mexico also contributed to the improved North American operat-
ing results, although to a lesser extent. The earnings increase in
Mexico occurred despite that country’s continuing tax on bever-
ages sweetened with HFCS. See also section entitled “Mexican
Tax on Beverages Sweetened with HFCS.” South America operat-
ing income increased 43 percent reflecting earnings growth in
the Southern Cone of South America and Brazil, as we recovered
strongly from the difficult economic conditions and currency
devaluations experienced in 2002. Asia/Africa operating income
was flat as volume growth and favorable translation effects
attributable to stronger local currencies were offset by weaker
price/product mix, a $1 million asset write-down associated 
with the transfer of our manufacturing facility from Malaysia 
to Thailand and start-up costs pertaining to our new glucose
channel in Thailand. 

Financing costs – net Financing costs – net increased to $39 mil-
lion in 2003 from $36 million in 2002. The increase primarily
reflects higher interest rates associated with our 2002 debt refi-
nancing to extend maturities. Reduced average indebtedness
partially offset the impact of the higher interest rates. 

Provision for income taxes Our effective income tax rate was 
36 percent in 2003, unchanged from 2002. 

Minority interest in earnings Minority interest in earnings
declined to $10 million in 2003 from $12 million in 2002. The
decrease primarily reflects the effects of our purchases of the
minority interest in our now wholly-owned Mexican and Southern
Cone of South America businesses, partially offset by increased
earnings in Pakistan. 

Comprehensive income (loss) We recorded comprehensive
income of $151 million in 2003, as compared to a comprehensive
loss of $22 million in 2002. The improvement is mainly attributa-
ble to favorable variances in the currency translation adjustment,
and to a lesser extent, gains from cash flow hedges and increased
net income. The favorable variance in the currency translation
adjustment primarily reflects the effects of stronger local curren-
cies, particularly in South America. 

Mexican Tax on Beverages Sweetened with HFCS
On January 1, 2002, a discriminatory tax on beverages sweetened
with high fructose corn syrup (“HFCS”), approved by the Mexican
Congress late in 2001, became effective. In response to the enact-
ment of the tax, which at the time effectively ended the use of
HFCS for beverages in Mexico, the Company ceased production
of HFCS 55 at our San Juan del Rio plant, one of its three plants
in Mexico. Over time, the Company has resumed production and
sales of HFCS to certain beverage customers. These sales increased
significantly beginning late in the third quarter of 2004 and are
continuing; however, the tax remains in place.

We continue to explore all options for repealing the tax and
eliminating any long-term negative financial impact from the tax.
While shipments of HFCS have increased recently, there is no
assurance that they will continue at these levels going forward.
Therefore, in order to attempt to mitigate any impact of the con-
tinuation of the tax on the business in Mexico, we have taken
several actions including the following:

• Continuing the lobbying efforts seeking relief from the tax.
• Exploring new markets for the HFCS production capability in 

and around Mexico.
• Restructuring of the Mexican operations in an effort to improve

efficiency and reduce operating costs. This included the closing
of one plant in the fourth quarter of 2004. 

• Submitting an arbitration claim against the government of
Mexico under the provisions of the North American Free Trade
Agreement (“NAFTA”) seeking recovery in an amount not less
than $325 million.

While we continue to believe that the tax will be repealed, we
cannot predict with any certainty the likelihood or timing of such
repeal. Failure to repeal the tax and a decline from the current
levels of HFCS shipments could have a long-term effect on the
operating results and cash flows of our Mexican operation. See
also section entitled “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2004, our total assets were $2.37 billion, up from
$2.22 billion at December 31, 2003. This increase primarily reflects
translation effects associated with stronger foreign currencies rela-
tive to the US dollar. Stockholders’ equity increased to $1.08 billion
at December 31, 2004 from $911 million at December 31, 2003,
principally attributable to our 2004 net income, favorable currency
translation effects, open market sales of redeemable common
stock and the exercise of stock options.

At December 31, 2004, we had total debt outstanding of 
$568 million, compared to $550 million at December 31, 2003.
The debt outstanding includes $255 million (face amount) of 
8.25 percent senior notes due 2007, $200 million (face amount) 
of 8.45 percent senior notes due 2009 and $115 million of con-
solidated subsidiary indebtedness, consisting of local country
borrowings. Of the consolidated subsidiary indebtedness, 
$88 million represents short-term borrowings. Corn Products
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International, as the parent company, guarantees certain obliga-
tions of several of its consolidated subsidiaries, which aggregated
$41 million at December 31, 2004. Management believes that such
consolidated subsidiaries will meet their financial obligations as
they become due. 

The principal source of our liquidity comes from our internally
generated cash flow, which we supplement as necessary with our
ability to borrow on our bank lines and to raise funds in both the
debt and equity markets. We have a $180 million Revolving Credit
Agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”), consisting of a
$150 million revolving credit facility in the US and a $30 million
revolving credit facility for our wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary,
which extends to September 2009. There were no outstanding
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement at December
31, 2004. We also have approximately $255 million of unused
operating lines of credit in the various foreign countries in which
we operate. 

The weighted average interest rate on total Company indebt-
edness was approximately 6.1 percent for both 2004 and 2003.
The Company has interest rate swap agreements that effectively
convert the interest rate associated with the Company’s 8.45 per-
cent senior notes to a variable interest rate. The fair value of
these agreements approximated $18 million and $22 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Net Cash Flows
A summary of operating cash flows is shown below:

(in millions) 2004 2003

Net income $««94 $÷76

Depreciation 102 101

Write-off of fixed assets – plant closures 19 –

Deferred income taxes (9) 4

Minority interest in earnings 8 10

Changes in working capital (37) 49

Other (11) (4))

Cash provided by operations $166 $236

Cash provided by operations was $166 million in 2004, as
compared with $236 million in 2003. The decrease in operating
cash flow was driven principally by an increase in working capital
primarily attributable to margin calls on corn futures contracts in
the US and Canada and an increase in inventories. We will continue
to hedge our US and Canadian corn purchases through the use
of corn futures contracts and accordingly, will be required to make
or be entitled to receive, cash deposits for margin calls depending
on the movement in the market price for corn. The cash provided
by operations was used primarily to fund capital expenditures
and acquisitions, including the fourth quarter 2004 purchase of
the remaining minority interest in our South Korean business.

Listed below are the Company’s primary investing and financing
activities:

(in millions) 2004

Capital expenditures $(104)

Payments for acquisitions, net (68)

Proceeds from sale of investment 21

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 30

Dividends paid (including dividends to minority interest shareholders) (23)

On December 29, 2004, the Company increased its ownership
in Doosan Corn Products Korea, Inc. (“DCPK”), to 100 percent by
purchasing an additional 25 percent ownership interest from the
minority interest shareholders, and subsequently renamed the
wholly-owned subsidiary Corn Products Korea, Inc. The Company
paid $65 million in cash to acquire the additional ownership
interest, which approximated the carrying value of the minority
interest. The decline in the minority interest in subsidiaries on
our consolidated balance sheet from $78 million at December 31,
2003 to $18 million at December 31, 2004 primarily reflects 
this transaction. 

We currently anticipate that capital expenditures for 2005 
will approximate $170 million. Included in this estimate are
expenditures relating to the previously announced $100 million
capital project at our Argo plant located in Bedford Park, Illinois.
The project will include the shutdown and replacement of the
plant’s three current coal-fired boilers with one coal-fired boiler.
This project is expected to reduce the plant’s emissions as 
well as provide more efficient and effective energy production.
Construction began in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the project
is expected to be completed in the second quarter of 2006. 

On December 1, 2004, our board of directors increased the
quarterly cash dividend by 16.7 percent to $0.07 per share of com-
mon stock. The cash dividend was paid on January 25, 2005 to
stockholders of record at the close of business on January 4, 2005.

We expect that our operating cash flows and borrowing avail-
ability under our credit facilities will be more than sufficient to
fund our anticipated capital expenditures, dividends and other
investing and/or financing strategies for the foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
The table below summarizes our significant contractual obliga-
tions as of December 31, 2004. Information included in the table
is cross-referenced to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements elsewhere in this report, as applicable.

(in millions) Payments Due by Period

Contractual Note Less than 2-3 4-5 More than
Obligations Reference Total 1 year years years 5 years

Long-term debt 8 $482 $««– $282 $200 $««««–

Operating lease

obligations 9 84 18 28 23 15

Purchase obligations* 334 56 74 41 163

Total $900 $74 $384 $264 $178

The purchase obligations relate principally to power supply agreements, including take or pay
energy supply contracts, which help to provide us with an adequate power supply at certain of
our facilities. 

*
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As described in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, we have an agreement with certain common
stockholders (collectively the “holder”), a representative of which
serves on our Board of Directors, relating to certain common
shares, that provides the holder with the right to require us to
repurchase the underlying common shares for cash at a price
equal to the average of the closing per share market price of the
Company’s common stock for the 20 trading days immediately
preceding the date that the holder exercises the put option. The
put option is exercisable at any time until January 2010, when it
expires. The holder can also elect to sell the common shares on
the open market, subject to certain restrictions. The holder of the
put option may not require us to repurchase less than 500,000
shares on any single exercise of the put option, and the put
option may not be exercised more than once in any six-month
period. In the event the holder exercises the put option requiring
us to repurchase the shares, we would be required to pay for the
shares within 90 calendar days from the exercise date if the holder
is selling the minimum number of shares (500,000), and within a 
prorated time period of between 90 and 360 calendar days if the
holder is selling more than the minimum number of shares. For
intermediate share amounts, a pro-rata payment period would
be calculated (based on the number of shares put). Any amount
due would accrue interest at our revolving credit facility rate
from the date of exercise until the payment date. In the event the
holder had put all of the shares subject to the agreement to us
on December 31, 2004, we would have been obligated to repur-
chase the shares for approximately $33 million based upon the
average of the closing per share market price of the Company’s
common stock for the 20 trading days prior to December 31, 2004
($26.90 per share). This amount is reflected as redeemable common
stock in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004. 

We currently anticipate that in 2005 we will make cash contri-
butions of $4 million and $6 million to our US and Canadian
pension plans, respectively. See Note 11 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information with
respect to our pension and postretirement benefit plans.

Key Performance Metrics
The Company uses certain key metrics to better monitor our
progress towards achieving our strategic business objectives.
These metrics relate to our return on equity, our financial leverage,
and our management of working capital, each of which is tracked
on an ongoing basis. We assess whether we are achieving an
adequate return on stockholders’ equity by measuring our
“Return on Capital Employed” against our cost of capital. We mon-
itor our financial leverage by regularly reviewing our ratio of debt
to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(“Debt to EBITDA”) and our “Debt to Capitalization” percentage to
assure that we are properly financed. We assess our level of working

capital investment by evaluating our “Operating Working Capital as
a percentage of Net Sales.” We believe the use of these metrics
enables us to better run our business and is useful to investors. 

In the prior year annual report on Form 10-K, a “Return on 
Net Sales” percentage was included in the Key Performance
Metrics section. We have determined that the “Debt to EBITDA”
ratio better monitors our progress towards achieving our strategic
business objective of growing our business while maintaining
appropriate debt levels, and it has therefore replaced the Return
on Net Sales percentage as a key performance metric beginning
in 2004. Additionally, “Working Capital as a percentage of Net
Sales” has been replaced by “Operating Working Capital as a
percentage of Net Sales.” 

The metrics below include certain information (including Capital
Employed, Adjusted Operating Income, EBITDA, Adjusted Current
Assets and Operating Working Capital), that is not calculated in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”). A reconciliation of these amounts to the most directly
comparable financial measures calculated in accordance with
GAAP is contained in the following tables. Management believes
that this non-GAAP information provides investors with a mean-
ingful presentation of useful information on a basis consistent
with the way in which management monitors and evaluates the
Company’s operating performance. The information presented
should not be considered in isolation and should not be used as
a substitute for our financial results calculated under GAAP. In
addition, these non-GAAP amounts are susceptible to varying inter-
pretations and calculations, and the amounts presented below may
not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.

Our calculations of these key metrics for 2004 with comparison
to the prior year are as follows:

Return on Capital Employed
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Total stockholders’ equity $1,081 $«««911

Add:

Cumulative translation adjustment 292 349

Minority interest in subsidiaries 18 78

Redeemable common stock 33 67

Total debt 568 550

Less:

Cash and cash equivalents (101) (70)

Capital employed (a) $1,891 $1,885

Operating income $«÷179 $÷«174

Adjusted for:

Income taxes (at effective tax rates of 30% in 2004

and 36% in 2003) (54) (63)

Adjusted operating income, net of tax (b) $«««125 $÷«111

Return on Capital Employed (b÷a) 6.6% 5.9%

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Debt to EBITDA ratio
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Short-term debt $«««««88 $÷÷«98

Long-term debt 480 452

Total debt (a) $«««568 $÷«550

Net income $«««««94 $÷÷«76

Add back:

Minority interest in earnings 8 10

Provision for income taxes 43 49

Interest expense, net of interest income

of $3 and $1, respectively 33 39

Depreciation 102 101

EBITDA (b) $«««280 $«÷275

Debt to EBITDA ratio (a÷b) 2.0 2.0

Debt to Capitalization percentage
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Short-term debt $«««««88 $÷÷«98

Long-term debt 480 452

Total debt (a) $«««568 $÷«550

Deferred income tax liabilities $«««177 $«««196

Minority interest in subsidiaries 18 78

Redeemable common stock 33 67

Stockholders’ equity 1,081 911

Total capital $1,309 $1,252

Total debt and capital (b) $1,877 $1,802

Debt to Capitalization percentage (a÷b) 30.3% 30.5%%

Operating Working Capital as a percentage of Net Sales
(dollars in millions) 2004 2003

Current assets $«««661 $÷«547

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (101) (70)

Adjusted current assets $«««560 $«««477

Current liabilities $«««462 $«««394

Less: Short-term debt (88) (98)

Adjusted current liabilities $«««374 296

Operating working capital (a) $«««186 $÷«181

Net sales (b) $2,283 $2,102

Operating Working Capital as a 

percentage of Net Sales (a÷b) 8.1% 8.6%

Commentary on Key Performance Metrics
In accordance with the Company’s long-term objectives, we have
set certain goals relating to key performance metrics that we will
strive to meet over the next two to three years. To date, we have
achieved three of our four established targets and made progress
during 2004 towards the eventual attainment of our Return on
Capital Employed goal. However, no assurance can be given 
that this goal will be attained and various factors could affect 
our ability to achieve not only this goal, but to also continue to
meet our other key performance metric targets. See “Risks and
Uncertainties,” “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk” and “Forward Looking Statements.” 

Return on Capital Employed Our goal is to achieve a Return on
Capital Employed in excess of 8.5 percent, which is our average
Cost of Capital as calculated based upon our current financing
profile. In determining this performance metric, the negative cumu-
lative translation adjustment is added back to stockholders’ equity
to calculate returns based on the Company’s original investment
costs. The increase in our computed return for 2004 to 6.6 per-
cent, from 5.9 percent in 2003, primarily reflects the impact of the
improved operating income in South America and North America
and the favorable effect of the decrease in our effective income
tax rate from 36 percent in 2003 to 30 percent in 2004. The
improvement in this metric was accomplished despite the fact
that 2004 operating income included a $21 million restructuring
charge for plant closures. See also Note 6 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information relating to the
plant closures. 

Debt to EBITDA ratio Our goal is to maintain a ratio of debt 
to EBITDA of less than 2.25. This ratio remained at 2.0 as of
December 31, 2004, as our debt increase of $18 million was offset
by a $5 million increase in EBITDA. The EBITDA was negatively
impacted by the $21 million restructuring charge for plant closures.

Debt to Capitalization percentage Our goal is to maintain a Debt
to Capitalization percentage in the range of 32 to 35 percent. At
December 31, 2004 our Debt to Capitalization percentage was
30.3 percent, as compared with 30.5 percent a year ago, as an
improving capital base more than offset a slight increase in debt.
We will strive to keep this ratio from exceeding the established
range as we focus our growth on leveraging our assets through
strategic acquisitions, joint ventures and alliances, and by selling
those assets that do not meet our long-term strategy.

Operating Working Capital as a percentage of Net Sales Our goal
is to maintain operating working capital in a range of 8 to 10 per-
cent of our net sales. The metric decreased to 8.1 percent at
December 31, 2004 from 8.6 percent a year ago, as we achieved
net sales growth of 9 percent while maintaining relatively consis-
tent operating working capital levels. We will continue to focus
on managing our working capital in 2005.

Risk and Uncertainties
We operate in one business segment, corn refining, and manage
our business on a geographic regional basis. In each country
where we conduct business, the business and assets are subject
to varying degrees of risk and uncertainty. We insure our business
and assets in each country against insurable risks in a manner
that our management deems appropriate. Because of our geo-
graphic dispersion, we believe that a loss from non-insurable
events in any one country would not have a material adverse
effect on our operations as a whole. We believe there is no con-
centration of risk with any single customer or supplier, or small
group of customers or suppliers, whose failure or non-perform-
ance would materially affect our results. We have also established
policies to help manage other financial risks as discussed below.
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Commodity costs Our finished products are made primarily
from corn. Purchased corn accounts for between 40 percent and
65 percent of finished product costs. In North America, we sell 
a large portion of our finished product at firm prices established
in supply contracts that typically extend for up to one year. In
order to minimize the effect of volatility in the cost of corn related
to these firm-priced supply contracts, we enter into corn futures
contracts or take hedging positions in the corn futures market.
From time to time, we may also enter into anticipatory hedges.
All of these derivative contracts typically mature within one year.
At expiration, we settle the derivative contracts at a net amount
equal to the difference between the then-current price of corn
and the fixed contract price. While these hedging instruments 
are subject to fluctuations in value, changes in the value of the
underlying exposures we are hedging generally offset such fluc-
tuations. While the corn futures contracts or hedging positions
are intended to minimize the volatility of corn costs on operating
profits, occasionally the hedging activity can result in losses,
some of which may be material. Outside of North America, sales
of finished product under long-term, firm-priced supply contracts
are not material.

Energy costs represent a significant portion of our operating
costs. The primary use of energy is to create steam in the pro-
duction process and in dryers to dry product. We consume coal,
natural gas, electricity, wood and fuel oil to generate energy. The
market prices for these commodities vary depending on supply
and demand, world economies and other factors. We purchase
these commodities based on our anticipated usage and the future
outlook for these costs. We cannot assure that we will be able to
purchase these commodities at prices that we can adequately pass
on to customers to sustain or increase profitability. We periodi-
cally use derivative financial instruments to hedge portions of
our natural gas costs.

Our commodity price hedging instruments generally relate to
contracted firm-priced business. Based on our overall commodity
hedge exposure at December 31, 2004, a hypothetical 10 percent
decline in market prices applied to the fair value of the instruments
would result in a charge to other comprehensive income (loss) of
approximately $23 million, net of income tax benefit. It should be
noted that any change in the fair value of the contracts, real or
hypothetical, would be substantially offset by an inverse change
in the value of the underlying hedged item.

International operations and foreign exchange We have operated
a multinational business subject to the risks inherent in operat-
ing in foreign countries and with foreign currencies for many
years. Our non-US operations are subject to foreign currency
exchange fluctuations, as well as to political, economic and other
risks, such as those previously described in the section entitled
“Mexican Tax on Beverages Sweetened with HFCS.”

Because we primarily sell world commodities, we believe that
local prices will adjust relatively quickly to offset the effect of a
local devaluation. We may occasionally hedge commercial trans-
actions and certain liabilities that are denominated in a currency
other than the currency of the operating unit entering into the
underlying transaction. 

Interest rate exposure Approximately 48 percent of our borrow-
ings are fixed rate bonds and loans. Interest on the remaining 
52 percent of our borrowings is subject to change based on
changes in short-term rates, which could affect our interest costs.
Included in the floating rate indebtedness information above is
our $200 million Senior Notes due 2009 which, through the use
of interest rate swaps, has effectively been converted from fixed
to floating rate debt. Included in the fixed rate indebtedness
information above is $18 million of Korean term loan debt which,
through the use of cross currency interest rate swaps, has effec-
tively been converted from floating rate US dollar to fixed rate
Korean Won debt. See also Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information. A hypothetical
increase of 1 percentage point in the weighted average floating
interest rate for 2004 would have increased interest expense and
reduced pretax income for 2004 by approximately $3 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. The preparation of these finan-
cial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions and conditions. 

We have identified the most critical accounting policies upon
which the financial statements are based and that involve our
most complex and subjective decisions and assessments. Senior
management of the Company has discussed the development,
selection and disclosure of these policies with members of the
Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. These accounting
policies are disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The discussion that follows should be read in con-
junction with the consolidated financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

Long-Lived Assets  
The Company has substantial investments in property, plant and
equipment and goodwill. For property, plant and equipment we
recognize the cost of depreciable assets in operations over the
estimated useful life of the assets, and we evaluate the recoverabil-
ity of these assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recover-
able. For goodwill we perform an annual impairment assessment
(or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) as required by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” We have chosen to perform this
annual impairment assessment in December of each year. An
impairment loss is assessed and recognized in operating earnings
if the fair value of either goodwill or property, plant and equipment
is less than its carrying amount. 

In analyzing the fair value of goodwill and assessing the
recoverability of the carrying value of property, plant and equip-
ment, we have to make projections regarding future cash flows.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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In developing these projections, we make a variety of important
assumptions and estimates that have a significant impact on our
assessments of whether the carrying values of goodwill and prop-
erty, plant and equipment should be adjusted to reflect impairment.
Among these are assumptions and estimates about the future
growth and profitability of the related business unit, anticipated
future economic, regulatory and political conditions in the business
unit’s market, the appropriate discount rates relative to the risk
profile of the unit or assets being evaluated and estimates of 
terminal or disposal values. 

We completed the required annual test of goodwill impair-
ment for all of our affected reporting units in December 2004. 
In each case, based on our assumptions about future cash flows,
we expect to be able to generate from each reporting unit, the
fair value of the reporting unit was in excess of the related carry-
ing amounts, and accordingly, no impairment of goodwill was
required to be measured and recognized. We also concluded that
the Mexican Congress’ decision in December 2004 to continue
the controversial tax on beverages sweetened with HFCS consti-
tuted a triggering event which necessitated that we re-assess the
assumptions made relating to the recoverability of the carrying
value of our HFCS production-related long-term assets in Mexico.
We completed this assessment of our Mexican operation in
December 2004 and concluded, based on our assumptions about
future cash flows we expect to be able to generate from these
assets, that their carrying values were not impaired. For additional
information regarding the status of the Mexican government’s
tax on beverages sweetened with HFCS, refer to the “Mexican
Tax on Beverages Sweetened with HFCS” section above and to
Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our ability to fully recover the carrying value of our long-term
investment in Mexico, which consists primarily of goodwill and
property, plant and equipment associated with our Mexican
operations, is dependent upon the generation of sufficient cash
flows from the use or disposition of these assets. Based on our
long-term forecasts of operating results, including the assump-
tions described below, we believe that we will generate sufficient
cash flows from these long-term assets to fully recover their car-
rying values and accordingly no impairment of either goodwill or
other long-term assets related to Mexico was recognized as of
December 31, 2004.

In developing our estimates of the cash flows that we expect
to generate from our Mexican operations, we have assumed that
shipments of HFCS to the Mexican beverage industry will reach
levels, beginning in 2005, that will be significantly higher than
the actual results from each of the three previous years. Under
these assumptions, the estimated fair value of our Mexican busi-
ness would exceed its carrying amount. These assumptions are
supported by the following significant external events:

• During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the Company
increased production and sales of HFCS to certain Mexican 
beverage customers which have continued through February
2005. These customers have obtained court rulings which have
exempted them from paying the tax. 

• There has been a sugar shortage in Mexico caused in part 
by the tax.

• The United States government filed a complaint with the World
Trade Organization accusing Mexico of imposing unfair taxes 
on beverages sweetened with HFCS. 

• At differing times, meetings have been conducted between vari-
ous representatives of United States sugar and HFCS producers,
corn growers and the Mexican sugar industry in an ongoing
attempt to work out a solution to the various trade disputes that
led to the imposition of the tax.

• Two other United States based companies have jointly filed an
arbitration claim against the Mexican government for compensa-
tion under the investment provisions of NAFTA.

In addition to these developments related to the tax, we have
also taken several actions to mitigate the effect of continued
imposition of the tax on our business in Mexico. These include: 

• Continuing our lobbying efforts seeking relief from the tax.
• Exploring new markets for our HFCS production capability in 

and around Mexico.
• Restructuring of our Mexican operations in an effort to improve

efficiency and reduce operating costs, including the closing of
one plant in the fourth quarter of 2004.

• Submitting an arbitration claim against the government of Mexico
under the provisions of NAFTA seeking recovery in an amount
not less than $325 million.

The assumptions used to formulate our cash flow estimates
are subject to change in the future based on business conditions,
including but not limited to a change in the current level of HFCS
shipments to the Mexican beverage industry, as well as events
affecting the likelihood of repeal of the tax, and the results of the
impairment calculations could be significantly different if per-
formed at a later date. In the event that the tax is not ultimately
repealed or modified, or that actual results differ from those
assumed, the Company could be required to recognize an impair-
ment of goodwill and the amount of such impairment could be
material. It could also lead to a further reorganization of our
Mexican operations. The carrying value of the goodwill related to
our Mexican operations was approximately $120 million at
December 31, 2004.

As stated in previous filings, we are continuing our efforts to
gain repeal of the tax and at the same time, to pursue the imple-
mentation of the alternative business strategies and operating
cost reductions. However, there have been no formal actions
taken toward the repeal of the tax. While we continue to believe
that the profitability of the Mexican operations will support the
carrying value of goodwill, we will continue to reevaluate certain
of the key assumptions underlying our cash flow projections. We
believe a continued lack of definitive results in negotiations with
the Mexican government leading to the repeal or modification of
the tax could increase the likelihood that an impairment charge
would be required unless HFCS sales to the Mexican beverage 
industry continue at or above current levels for the long term.
The amount of such non-cash charge, if any, will depend on our
assessment of the effect that the factors identified above have on
expected future cash flow.
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In concluding that an impairment of the Mexican goodwill may
arise if the tax is not repealed or its effect on HFCS sales in Mexico
otherwise mitigated, we have not assumed that any proceeds
would be received from our arbitration claim for compensation
under NAFTA against the Mexican government. Any recovery we
receive from the resolution of this claim would reduce or offset, in
whole or in part, the amount of any impairment to be recognized.
However, no assurance can be made that we will be successful
with our arbitration claim.

Retirement Benefits
The Company sponsors non-contributory defined benefit plans
covering substantially all employees in the United States and
Canada, and certain employees in other foreign countries. We
also provide healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired
employees in the United States and Canada. In order to measure
the expense and obligations associated with these retirement
benefits, management must make a variety of estimates and
assumptions, including discount rates used to value certain lia-
bilities, expected return on plan assets set aside to fund these
costs, rate of compensation increase, employee turnover rates,
retirement rates, mortality rates, and other factors. These esti-
mates and assumptions are based on our historical experience,
along with our knowledge and understanding of current facts,
trends and circumstances. We use third-party specialists to assist
management in evaluating our assumptions and estimates, as
well as to appropriately measure the costs and obligations asso-
ciated with our retirement benefit plans. Had we used different
estimates and assumptions with respect to these plans, our retire-
ment benefit obligations and related expense could vary from the
actual amounts recorded, and such differences could be material. 

New Accounting Standards
In December 2003, the “Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003” (the “Medicare Act”) was enacted
into law. The Medicare Act introduced a prescription drug benefit
under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree
health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actu-
arially equivalent to Medicare Part D. Following the enactment
into law of the Medicare Act, on January 12, 2004, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position
(“FSP”) No. 106-1, which, on May 19, 2004, was superseded by
FSP 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to
the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003.” FSP 106-2 provides guidance on the accounting for
the effects of the Medicare Act for employers that sponsor postre-
tirement health care plans that provide prescription drug benefits.
The guidance in FSP 106-2 related to the accounting for the sub-
sidy applies only to the sponsor of a single-employer defined
benefit postretirement health care plan for which (a) the employer
has concluded that prescription drug benefits available under the
plan to some or all participants for some or all future years are
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and thus qualify for the
subsidy under the Medicare Act, and (b) the expected subsidy will
offset or reduce the employer’s share of the cost of the underlying

postretirement prescription drug coverage on which the subsidy
is based. The Company determined that the prescription drug
benefits under its US hourly postretirement health care plan are
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D, and adopted FSP 106-2
prospectively, effective July 1, 2004. The adoption of FSP 106-2
did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. 

In March 2004, the FASB ratified the consensuses reached by
the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) with respect to EITF Issue
No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments.” EITF Issue No. 03-1
addresses recognition, measurement and disclosure of other-
than-temporary impairment evaluations for securities within the
scope of SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities,” and equity securities that are not
subject to the scope of SFAS No. 115 and are not accounted for
under the equity method. The recognition and measurement
guidance was effective for reporting periods beginning after 
June 15, 2004. In September 2004, FASB Staff Position EITF Issue
No. 03-1-1 was issued, which delays the effective date for the
measurement and recognition guidance contained in paragraphs
10-20 of EITF Issue No. 03-1 pending final issuance of an FSP pro-
viding other application guidance. Disclosures for cost method
investments became effective in annual financial statements 
for fiscal years ending after June 15, 2004. See Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, section entitled “Investments”
for information relating to cost method investments. 

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 151, “Inventory Costs – an
amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS 151”), which clar-
ifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs and spoilage. The standard requires that
such costs be excluded from the cost of inventory and expensed
when incurred. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect that the adop-
tion of SFAS 151 will have a material effect on its consolidated
financial statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 109-1,
“Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities
Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” This FSP,
which became effective upon issuance, provides that the tax
deduction for income with respect to qualified domestic produc-
tion activities, as part of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
that was enacted on October 22, 2004, will be treated 
as a special deduction as described in SFAS No. 109. As a result,
this deduction has no effect on the Corporation’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities existing at the date of enactment. Instead,
the impact of this deduction, which is effective January 1, 2005,
will be reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed
on the Corporation’s income tax returns. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 109-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings
Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004.” This FSP, which became effective upon issuance, allows an
enterprise additional time beyond the financial reporting period

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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of enactment of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 to evalu-
ate the effect of this act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation
of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. See
Note 10 for additional information with respect to this FSP. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153,
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of APB 
No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” (“SFAS 153”),
which requires that exchanges of productive assets be accounted
for at fair value, rather than at carryover basis, unless (1) neither
the asset received nor the asset surrendered has a fair value that
is determinable within reasonable limits or (2) the transactions
lack commercial substance. SFAS 153 is effective for nonmone-
tary asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect that the adoption
of SFAS 153 will have a material effect on its consolidated 
financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” and supersedes
APB 25. Among other items, SFAS 123R eliminates the use of 
APB 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting, and requires
companies to recognize in the financial statements the cost of
employee services received in exchange for awards of equity
instruments, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards.
This cost is to be recognized over the period during which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award (typically the vesting period). SFAS 123R also requires that
benefits associated with tax deductions in excess of recognized
compensation cost be recognized by crediting additional paid-in
capital. Additionally, cash retained as a result of such excess tax
benefits are to be reported as a financing cash inflow, rather than
as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. 

SFAS 123R is effective as of the beginning of the first interim
reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, although early
adoption is allowed. SFAS 123R permits companies to adopt its
requirements using either a “modified prospective” method, 
or a “modified retrospective” method. Under the “modified
prospective” method, compensation cost is recognized in the
financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on
the requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments
granted after that date, and based on the requirements of SFAS
123 for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of
SFAS 123R. Under the “modified retrospective” method, the
requirements are the same as under the “modified prospective”
method, but this method also permits entities to restate financial
statements of previous periods based on proforma disclosures
made in accordance with SFAS 123. The Company is currently
evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R and has not yet deter-
mined the method of adoption it will use. The Company currently
expects to adopt SFAS 123R effective July 1, 2005. See Note 14
for further information regarding the Company’s stock-based
compensation plans. 
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International Operations and Foreign Exchange
The Company has operated a multinational business subject 
to the risks inherent in operating in foreign countries and with
foreign currencies for many years. The Company’s US dollar
denominated results are subject to foreign currency exchange
fluctuations and its operations are subject to political, economic
and other risks. Economic changes, terrorist activity and political
unrest may result in business interruption or decreased demand
for the Company’s products. The Company’s success will depend
in part on its ability to manage continued global political and/or
economic uncertainty, especially in the Company’s significant
geographical markets, as well as any political or economic 
disruption due to terrorist activities.

The Company primarily sells world commodities and, histori-
cally, local prices have adjusted relatively quickly to offset the
effect of a local devaluation. The Company may occasionally
hedge commercial transactions and certain liabilities that are
denominated in a currency other than the currency of the operat-
ing unit entering into the underlying transaction.

In each country where we conduct business, the business and
assets are subject to varying degrees of risk and uncertainty. The
Company insures its business and assets in each country against
insurable risks in a manner that it deems appropriate. Because of
its geographic dispersion, the Company believes that a loss from
non-insurable events in any one country would not have a mate-
rial adverse effect on the Company’s operations as a whole.

Uncertain Ability to Generate Adequate Financial Performance
The Company’s ability to generate operating income and to
increase profitability depends to a large extent upon its ability 
to price finished products at a level that will cover manufacturing
and raw material costs and provide a profit margin. The Company’s
ability to maintain appropriate price levels is determined by a
number of factors largely beyond the Company’s control, such as
aggregate industry supply and market demand, which may vary
from time to time, and the economic condition of the geographic
region of the Company’s operations. 

Uncertain Ability to Contain Costs or to Fund Capital Expenditures
The Company’s future profitability and growth also depends on
the Company’s ability to contain operating costs and per-unit
product costs, to maintain and/or implement effective cost control
programs and to develop value-added products and new product
applications successfully, while at the same time maintaining com-
petitive pricing and superior quality products, customer service
and support. The Company’s ability to maintain a competitive cost
structure depends on continued containment of manufacturing,
delivery and administrative costs as well as the implementation
of cost-effective purchasing programs for raw materials, energy
and related manufacturing requirements. The Company plans to
focus capital expenditures on implementing productivity improve-
ments and, if supported by profitable customer demand, expand
the production capacity of its facilities. The Company may need
additional funds for working capital as the Company grows and

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk
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expands its operations. To the extent possible, the Company
expects to fund its capital expenditures from operating cash flow.
If the Company’s operating cash flow is insufficient to fund such
expenditures, the Company may either reduce its capital expen-
ditures or utilize certain general credit facilities. The Company
may also seek to generate additional liquidity through the sale of
debt or equity securities in private or public markets or through
the sale of non-productive assets. The Company cannot provide
any assurance that cash flows from operations will be sufficient
to fund anticipated capital expenditures or that additional funds
can be obtained from financial markets or from the sale of assets
at terms favorable to the Company. If the Company is unable to
generate sufficient cash flows or raise sufficient additional funds
to cover capital expenditures, it may not be able to achieve its
desired operating efficiencies and expansion plans, which may
adversely impact the Company’s competitiveness and, therefore,
its results of operations. 

Interest Rate Exposure 
Approximately 48 percent of the Company’s borrowings are fixed
rate bonds and loans. Interest on the remaining 52 percent of the
Company’s borrowings is subject to change based on changes in
short-term rates, which could affect our interest costs. Included in
the floating rate indebtedness information above is the Company’s
$200 million Senior Notes due 2009 which, through the use of
interest rate swaps, has effectively been converted from fixed to
floating rate debt. Included in the fixed rate indebtedness informa-
tion above is $18 million of Korean term loan debt which, through
the use of cross currency interest rate swaps, has effectively been
converted from floating rate US dollar to fixed rate Korean Won
debt. See also Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information. A hypothetical increase of 
1 percentage point in the weighted average floating interest rate
for 2004 would have increased interest expense and reduced 
pretax income for 2004 by approximately $3 million. 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the carrying and fair values
of long-term debt, including the current portion, were as follows:

2004 2003

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions) Value Value Value Value

8.25% senior notes, due 2007 $254 $280 $253 $281

8.45% senior notes, due 2009 199 233 199 223

Korean loans 27 27 42 42

Total $480 $540 $494 $546

Competition
The Company operates in a highly competitive environment.
Almost all of the Company’s products compete with virtually iden-
tical or similar products manufactured by other companies in the
corn refining industry. In the United States, there are other corn
refiners, several of which are divisions of larger enterprises that
have greater financial resources and some of which, unlike the
Company, have vertically integrated their corn refining and other
operations. Many of the Company’s products also compete with
products made from raw materials other than corn. Fluctuation 
in prices of these competing products may affect prices of, and
profits derived from, the Company’s products. Competition within
markets is largely based on price, quality and product availability.

Price Volatility and Uncertain Availability of Corn
Corn purchasing costs, which include the price of the corn 
plus delivery cost, account for 40 percent to 65 percent of the
Company’s product costs. The price and availability of corn is
influenced by economic and industry conditions, including sup-
ply and demand factors such as crop disease and severe weather
conditions such as drought, floods or frost that are difficult to
anticipate and cannot be controlled by the Company. In addition,
government programs supporting sugar prices indirectly impact
the price of corn sweeteners, especially high fructose corn syrup.
Due to market volatility, the Company cannot assure that it can
adequately pass potential increases in the cost of corn on to 
customers through product price increases or purchase quanti-
ties sufficient to sustain or increase its profitability.

Commodity Costs
The Company’s finished products are made primarily from corn.
In North America, the Company sells a large portion of finished
product at firm prices established in supply contracts typically
lasting for periods of up to one year. In order to minimize the
effect of volatility in the cost of corn related to these firm-priced
supply contracts, the Company enters into corn futures contracts,
or takes hedging positions in the corn futures market. From time
to time, the Company may also enter into anticipatory hedges.
These contracts typically mature within one year. At expiration,
the Company settles the derivative contracts at a net amount
equal to the difference between the then-current price of corn
and the fixed contract price. While these hedging instruments 
are subject to fluctuations in value, changes in the value of the
underlying exposures the Company is hedging generally offset
such fluctuations. While the corn futures contracts or hedging
positions are intended to minimize the volatility of corn costs 
on operating profits, occasionally the hedging activity can result 
in losses, some of which may be material. Outside of North
America, sales of finished product under long-term, firm-priced
supply contracts are not material.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
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Energy costs for the Company represent a significant portion
of its operating costs. The primary use of energy is to create
steam in the production process and in dryers to dry product.
The Company consumes coal, natural gas, electricity, wood and
fuel oil to generate energy. The market prices for these commodi-
ties vary depending on supply and demand, world economies
and other factors. The Company purchases these commodities
based on its anticipated usage and the future outlook for these
costs. The Company cannot assure that it will be able to purchase
these commodities at prices that it can adequately pass on to
customers to sustain or increase profitability. The Company peri-
odically uses derivative financial instruments to hedge portions
of its natural gas costs. 

The Company’s commodity price hedging instruments 
generally relate to contracted firm-priced business. Based on the
Company’s overall commodity hedge exposure at December 31,
2004, a hypothetical 10 percent decline in market prices applied to
the fair value of the instruments would result in a charge to other
comprehensive income (loss) of approximately $23 million, net
of income tax benefit. It should be noted that any change in the
fair value of the contracts, real or hypothetical, would be sub-
stantially offset by an inverse change in the value of the underlying
hedged item.

Volatility of Markets
The market price for the common stock of the Company may 
be significantly affected by factors such as the announcement 
of new products or services by the Company or its competitors;
technological innovation by the Company, its competitors or
other vendors; quarterly variations in the Company’s operating
results or the operating results of the Company’s competitors;
general conditions in the Company’s and its customers’ markets;
changes in the earnings estimates by analysts or reported results
that vary materially from such estimates. In addition, the stock
market has experienced significant price fluctuations that have
affected the market prices of equity securities of many compa-
nies that have been unrelated to the operating performance of
any individual company. These broad market fluctuations may
materially and adversely affect the market price of the
Company’s common stock.

Consumer Preferences and Perceptions
Changes in consumer preferences and perceptions may lessen
the demand for the Company’s products, which would reduce
sales and harm the Company’s business. Food products are 
often affected by changes in consumer tastes, national, regional
and local economic conditions and demographic trends. The
Company’s sales could also be affected by changing consumer
tastes – for instance, if prevailing health or dietary preferences
cause consumers to avoid food products containing sweetener
products in favor of foods that are perceived as more healthy.

Biotechnology
The commercial success of agricultural products developed
through biotechnology depends in part on public acceptance of
their development, cultivation, distribution and consumption.
Public attitudes can be influenced by claims that genetically
modified products are unsafe for consumption or that they pose
unknown risks to the environment even if such claims are not
based on scientific studies. These public attitudes can influence
regulatory and legislative decisions about biotechnology even
where they are approved. The sale of the Company’s products
may in the future be delayed or impaired because of adverse
public perception regarding the safety of the Company’s prod-
ucts and the potential effects of these products on animals,
human health and the environment. 

Labor Disputes
Approximately 34 percent of US and 47 percent of non-US
employees are unionized. Strikes, lockouts or other work stoppages
or slow downs involving the Company’s unionized employees
could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Uncertainty of Dividends
The payment of dividends is at the discretion of the Company’s
Board of Directors and will be subject to the Company’s financial
results and the availability of surplus funds to pay dividends. 
No assurance can be given that the Company will continue to
pay dividends.

Certain Anti-Takeover Effects
Certain provisions of the Company’s Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Corn Products Charter”) and the
Company’s Amended By-Laws (the “Corn Products By-Laws”) and
of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) may have
the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in control
of the Company not approved by the Company’s Board. These
provisions include (i) a classified Board of Directors, (ii) a require-
ment of the unanimous consent of all stockholders for action to
be taken without a meeting, (iii) a requirement that special meet-
ings of stockholders be called only by the Chairman of the Board
or the Board of Directors, (iv) advance notice requirements for
stockholder proposals and nominations, (v) limitations on the
ability of stockholders to amend, alter or repeal the Corn Products
Amended By-Laws and certain provisions of the Corn Products
Charter, (vi) authorization for the Company’s Board to issue with-
out stockholder approval preferred stock with such terms as the
Board of Directors may determine and (vii) authorization for 
the Company’s Board to consider the interests of creditors, 
customers, employees and other constituencies of the Company
and its subsidiaries and the effect upon communities in which
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the Company and its subsidiaries do business, in evaluating pro-
posed corporate transactions. With certain exceptions, Section
203 of the DGCL (“Section 203”) imposes certain restrictions on
mergers and other business combinations between the Company
and any holder of 15 percent or more of the Company’s Common
Stock. In addition, the Company has adopted a stockholder rights
plan (the “Rights Plan”). The Rights Plan is designed to protect
stockholders in the event of an unsolicited offer and other takeover
tactics, which, in the opinion of the Company’s Board, could
impair the Company’s ability to represent stockholder interests.
The provisions of the Rights Plan may render an unsolicited
takeover of the Company more difficult or less likely to occur 
or might prevent such a takeover.

These provisions of the Corn Products Charter and Corn
Products By-Laws, the DGCL and the Rights Plan could discour-
age potential acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent
a change in control of the Company, although such proposals, 
if made, might be considered desirable by a majority of the
Company’s stockholders. Such provisions could also make it more
difficult for third parties to remove and replace the members of
the Company’s Board. Moreover, these provisions could diminish
the opportunities for a stockholder to participate in certain tender
offers, including tender offers at prices above the then-current
market value of the Company’s Common Stock, and may also
inhibit increases in the market price of the Company’s Common
Stock that could result from takeover attempts or speculation.

Reliance on Major Customers
A substantial portion of the Company’s 2004 worldwide sales were
made to companies engaged in the processed foods industry and
the soft drink industry. Additionally, a significant portion of the
Company’s 2004 worldwide sales were made to the animal feed
market. If the Company’s processed foods customers, soft drink
customers or animal feed customers were to substantially decrease
their purchases, the business of the Company might be materially
adversely affected. However, the Company believes there is no
concentration of risk with any single customer or supplier, or
small group of customers or suppliers, whose failure or non per-
formance would materially affect the Company’s results.

Forward Looking Statements
This Form 10-K contains or may contain forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. The Company intends these forward looking state-
ments to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for such
statements. These statements include, among other things, any
predictions regarding the Company’s future financial condition,
earnings, revenues, expenses or other financial items, any state-
ments concerning the Company’s prospects or future operation,
including management’s plans or strategies and objectives 
therefor and any assumptions underlying the foregoing. These
statements can sometimes be identified by the use of forward
looking words such as “may,” “will,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“plan,” “project,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “continue,” “pro
forma,” “forecast” or other similar expressions or the negative
thereof. All statements other than statements of historical facts 
in this report or referred to or incorporated by reference into this
report are “forward-looking statements.” These statements con-
tain certain inherent risks and uncertainties. Although we believe
our expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements
are based on reasonable assumptions, stockholders are cautioned
that no assurance can be given that our expectations will prove
correct. Actual results and developments may differ materially
from the expectations conveyed in these statements, based on
various factors, including fluctuations in worldwide commodities
markets and the associated risks of hedging against such fluc-
tuations; fluctuations in aggregate industry supply and market
demand; general political, economic, business, market and
weather conditions in the various geographic regions and coun-
tries in which we manufacture and/or sell our products, including
fluctuations in the value of local currencies, energy costs and
availability and changes in regulatory controls regarding quotas,
tariffs, taxes and income tax rates; labor disputes; biotechnology
issues; changing consumption preferences and trends; increased
competitive and/or customer pressure in the corn-refining indus-
try; the outbreak or continuation of hostilities including acts of
terrorism; stock market fluctuation and volatility; and the resolu-
tion of the current uncertainties resulting from the Mexican HFCS
tax. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on
which they are made and we do not undertake any obligation to
update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circum-
stances after the date of the statement. If we do update or correct
one or more of these statements, investors and others should
not conclude that we will make additional updates or corrections.
For a further description of risk factors, see the Company’s most
recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K and subsequent
reports on Forms 10-Q or 8-K.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
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Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Management of the Company, including the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation
of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2004. Based on that evaluation,
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effec-
tive in providing reasonable assurance that all material information
required to be filed in this report has been recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in 
the SEC’s rules and forms. There have been no changes in the
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting subsequent
to the date of our evaluation that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
This system of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are 
properly recorded and executed in accordance with manage-
ment’s authorization.

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that:

1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the Company.
2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”), and that receipts and expenditures of the Company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of man-
agement and directors of the Company.
3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control over financial reporting based on
the framework of Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on the evaluation, management con-
cluded that the Company’s system of internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. Management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting has been audited by KPMG LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their
report, a copy of which is included in this Annual Report.

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of 

Corn Products International, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Corn Products International, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
stockholders’ equity and redeemable equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of Corn Products International, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with US generally
accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, and our report dated March 10, 2005 expressed 
an unqualified opinion thereon.

KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 10, 2005

Report of Management Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Corn Products International, Inc.:
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, that Corn Products International, Inc. main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Corn Products International, Inc.’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 
of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of inter-
nal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effec-
tiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposi-
tions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expendi-
tures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future peri-
ods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compli-
ance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Corn Products
International, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion,
Corn Products International, Inc. maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of Corn Products International,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive
income, stockholders’ equity and redeemable equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 10, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 10, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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(in millions, except per share amounts)
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net sales before shipping and handling costs $2,461 $2,269 $1,979

Less – shipping and handling costs 178 167 108

Net sales 2,283 2,102 1,871

Cost of sales 1,929 1,778 1,604

Gross profit 354 324 267

Selling, general and administrative expenses 158 149 134

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates and other (income) expense – net (4) 1 (20)

Plant closing costs 21 – –

175 150 114

Operating income 179 174 153

Financing costs – net 34 39 36

Income before income taxes and minority interest 145 135 117

Provision for income taxes 43 49 42

Minority interest in earnings 8 10 12

Net income $«««««94 $÷«÷76 $÷«÷63

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 73.4 72.0 71.2

Diluted 74.7 72.4 71.5

Earnings per common share:
Basic $««1.28 $÷1.06 $÷0.89

Diluted 1.25 1.06 0.89

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
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(in millions, except share and per share amounts)
as of December 31, 2004 2003

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $÷÷101 $÷«÷«70

Accounts receivable – net 291 252

Inventories 258 215

Prepaid expenses 11 10

Total current assets 661 547

Property, plant and equipment, at cost
Land 112 103

Buildings 331 315

Machinery and equipment 2,479 2,364

2,922 2,782

Less accumulated depreciation (1,711) (1,595))

1,211 1,187

Goodwill and other intangible assets (less accumulated amortization 
of $30 and $27, respectively) 353 325

Deferred income tax assets 72 61

Investments 9 29

Other assets 61 67

Total assets $«2,367 $«2,216

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt $÷÷««88 $÷«÷«98

Accounts payable 261 200

Accrued liabilities 113 96

Total current liabilities 462 394

Non-current liabilities 116 118

Long-term debt 480 452

Deferred income taxes 177 196

Minority interest in subsidiaries 18 78

Redeemable common stock (1,227,000 and 3,827,000 shares issued and outstanding 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) stated at redemption value 33 67

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock – authorized 25,000,000 shares – $0.01 par value, none issued – –

Common stock – authorized 200,000,000 shares – $0.01 par value – 74,092,774 
and 71,492,774 issued at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively 1 1

Additional paid-in capital 1,047 1,006

Less:Treasury stock (common stock; 792,254 and 2,988,202 shares at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) at cost (4) (35)

Deferred compensation – restricted stock (2) (3)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (321) (343)

Retained earnings 360 285

Total stockholders’ equity 1,081 911

Total liabilities and equity $«2,367 $«2,216

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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(in millions)
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net income $««94 $««76 $«63

Comprehensive income (loss):
(Losses) gains on cash flow hedges, net of income tax effect of $15 million,

$5 million and $2 million, respectively (26) 9 (4)

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses on cash flow hedges included in net income,
net of income tax effect of $5 million, $5 million and $8 million, respectively (8) 10 14

Currency translation adjustment 57 58 (94)

Minimum pension liability, net of income tax effect (1) (2) (1)

Comprehensive income (loss) $116 $151 $(22))

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additional Other Redeemable

Common Paid-In Treasury Deferred Comprehensive Retained Common
(in millions) Stock Capital Stock Compensation Income (Loss) Earnings Stock

Balance, December 31, 2001 $1 $1,009 $(56) $(3) $(333) $175 $64

Net income 63

Dividends declared (14)

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges,
net of income tax effect of $2 million (4)

Amount of (gains) losses on cash flow hedges reclassified 
to earnings, net of income tax effect of $8 million 14

Issuance of redeemable common stock 
in connection with acquisition (2) 2 2

Issuance of restricted common stock as compensation 2 (2)

Amortization to compensation expense 
of restricted common stock 1

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 4

Change in fair value of redeemable common stock 8 (8)

Currency translation adjustment (94)

Minimum pension liability, net of income tax effect (1)

Balance, December 31, 2002 $1 $1,015 $(48) $(4) $(418) $224 $58

Net income 76

Dividends declared (15)

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges,
net of income tax effect of $5 million 9

Amount of (gains) losses on cash flow hedges reclassified 
to earnings, net of income tax effect of $5 million 10

Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition 8

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 5

Amortization to compensation expense of 
restricted common stock 1

Change in fair value of redeemable common stock (9) 9

Currency translation adjustment 58

Minimum pension liability, net of income tax effect (2)

Balance, December 31, 2003 $1 $1,006 $(35) $(3) $(343) $285 $67

Net income 94

Dividends declared (19)

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges,
net of income tax effect of $15 million (26)

Amount of (gains) losses on cash flow hedges reclassified 
to earnings, net of income tax effect of $5 million (8)

Issuance of restricted common stock as compensation 1 (1)

Issuance of common stock on exercise of stock options 30

Tax benefit attributable to exercises of employee stock options 7

Amortization to compensation expense 
of restricted common stock 2

Change in fair value and number of shares 
of redeemable common stock 34 (34)

Currency translation adjustment 57

Minimum pension liability, net of income tax effect (1)

Balance, December 31, 2004 $1 $1,047 $««(4) $(2) $(321) $360 $33

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Redeemable Equity
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(in millions)
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities
Net income $«««94 $÷«76 $÷«63

Non-cash charges (credits) to net income:
Depreciation 102 101 103

Write-off of fixed assets – plant closures 19 – –
Deferred income taxes (9) 4 (6)

Minority interest in earnings 8 10 12

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates (1) (1) (7)

Gain on sale of business – – (8)

Gain on dissolution of business – – (3)

Foreign currency transaction losses (gains) 1 – (1)

Changes in trade working capital:
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (14) 12 9

Inventories (34) (11) (6)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 48 62

Other (11) (3) (12))

Cash provided by operating activities 166 236 206

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Capital expenditures (104) (83) (78)

Proceeds from disposal of plants and properties 1 1 1

Proceeds from sale of business – – 35

Proceeds from dissolution of business – – 11

Proceeds from sale of investment 21 – –
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (68) (48) (42))

Other 1 – –

Cash used for investing activities (149) (130) (73)

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities
Payments on debt (41) (65) (407)

Proceeds from borrowings 47 7 263

Dividends paid (including to minority interest shareholders) (23) (20) (19))

Issuance of common stock 30 5 4

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities 13 (73) (159)

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 1 1 (3)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 31 34 (29)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 70 36 65

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $«101 $÷«70 $÷«36

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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1. Description of the Business 
Corn Products International, Inc. (the “Company”) was founded
in 1906 and became an independent and public company as of
December 31, 1997, after being spun off from CPC International
Inc. (“CPC”). The Company operates domestically and interna-
tionally in one business segment, corn refining, and produces 
a wide variety of products.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of presentation The consolidated financial statements 
consist of the accounts of the Company, including all significant
subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions are elimi-
nated in consolidation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation. These reclassifications had
no effect on previously recorded net income.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, other than those
whose functional currency is the US dollar, are translated at cur-
rent exchange rates with the related translation adjustments
reported in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Income statement accounts
are translated at the average exchange rate during the period.
Where the US dollar is considered the functional currency, mone-
tary assets and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates
with the related adjustment included in net income. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. The
Company incurs foreign currency transaction gains/losses relating
to assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency. For 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Company
incurred foreign currency transaction losses (gains) of $1 million,
($0.4 million) and ($1 million), respectively. The Company’s accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss included on stockholders’ equity
of the Consolidated Balance Sheets includes negative cumulative
translation adjustments of $292 million and $349 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Per share data All amounts per common share and the number
of common shares for all periods included in this report have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the January 25, 2005 two-for-one
stock split. See Note 14, “Stockholders’ Equity,” for additional
information pertaining to the stock split. 

Cash and cash equivalents Cash equivalents consist of all 
instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months
or less, and which have virtually no risk of loss in value.

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net 
realizable value. Costs are determined using the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method. 

Investments Investments in the common stock of affiliated 
companies over which the Company does not exercise significant
influence are accounted for under the cost method and are carried
at cost or less. At December 31, 2004, the Company had an
investment accounted for under the cost method of $5 million.
Investments that enable the Company to exercise significant
influence, but do not represent a controlling interest, are accounted
for under the equity method; such investments are carried at cost
or less, adjusted to reflect the Company’s proportionate share of
income or loss, less dividends received. The Company would rec-
ognize a loss on these investments when there is a loss in value
of an investment which is other than a temporary decline.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation Property, plant
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is generally computed on the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets, which range
from 10 to 50 years for buildings and 3 to 25 years for all other
assets. Where permitted by law, accelerated depreciation methods
are used for tax purposes. The Company reviews the recoverability
of the net book value of property, plant and equipment for impair-
ment whenever events and circumstances indicate that the net
book value of an asset may not be recoverable from estimated
future cash flows expected to result from its use and eventual
disposition. If this review indicates that the carrying values will
not be recovered, the carrying values would be reduced and an
impairment loss would be recognized.

Goodwill and other intangible assets Goodwill ($344 million and
$316 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) repre-
sents the excess of cost over fair value of net assets acquired.
The Company also has other intangible assets ($9 million at
December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003) principally related 
to the recognition of minimum pension liabilities. The carrying
amount of goodwill and other intangible assets by geographic
segment as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

(in millions)
At December 31, 2004 2003

North America $131 $127

South America 61 62

Asia/Africa 161 136

Total $353 $325

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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As required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), the
Company assesses goodwill for impairment annually (or more
frequent if impairment indicators arise). The Company has chosen
to perform this annual impairment assessment in December of
each year. The Company has completed the required impairment
assessments and determined there to be no goodwill impairment.

Revenue recognition The Company recognizes operating revenues
at the time title to the goods and all risks of ownership transfer
to customers. This generally occurs upon the date of shipment,
except in the case of consigned inventories where title passes
and the transfer of ownership risk occurs when the goods are
used by the customer. 

Hedging instruments The Company uses derivative financial
instruments principally to offset exposure to market risks arising
from changes in commodity prices and interest rates. Derivative
financial instruments currently used by the Company consist of
commodity futures contracts and interest rate swap agreements.
The Company enters into futures contracts, which are designated
as hedges of specific volumes of commodities (corn and natural
gas) that will be purchased and processed in a future month.
These readily marketable exchange-traded futures contracts are
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. The
Company has also entered into interest rate swap agreements
that effectively convert the interest rate on certain fixed rate debt
to a variable interest rate and, on certain variable rate debt, to a
fixed interest rate. 

On the date a derivative contract is entered into, the Company
designates the derivative as either a hedge of variable cash flows
to be paid related to interest on variable rate debt or certain fore-
casted purchases of corn or natural gas used in the manufacturing
process (“a cash-flow hedge”), or as a hedge of the fair value 
of certain debt obligations (“a fair-value hedge”). This process
includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair-value or
cash-flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions.
For all hedging relationships, the Company formally documents
the hedging relationships and its risk-management objective and
strategy for undertaking the hedge transactions, the hedging
instrument, the item, the nature of the risk being hedged, how
the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the hedged
risk will be assessed, and a description of the method of measur-
ing ineffectiveness. This includes linking all derivatives that are
designated as cash-flow or fair-value hedges to specific forecasted
transactions or to specific assets and liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. 

The Company also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s incep-
tion and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are
used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows or fair values of hedged items. When it is
determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge or
that it has ceased to be a highly effective hedge, the Company
discontinues hedge accounting prospectively. 

Changes in the fair value of a floating-to-fixed interest rate
swap or a futures contract that is highly effective and that is des-
ignated and qualifies as a cash-flow hedge are recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss), net of applicable income taxes,
and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Income when
the variable rate interest is paid or the finished goods produced
using the hedged item are sold. The maximum term over which
the Company hedges exposures to the variability of cash flows
for commodity price risk is 36 months. Changes in the fair value
of a fixed-to-floating interest rate swap agreement that is highly
effective and that is designated and qualifies as a fair-value hedge,
along with the loss or gain on the hedged debt obligation that is
attributable to the hedged risk, are recorded in earnings. The inef-
fective portion of the change in fair value of a derivative instrument
that qualifies as either a cash-flow hedge or a fair-value hedge is
reported in earnings.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively
when it is determined that the derivative is no longer effective 
in offsetting changes in the cash flows or fair value of the hedged
item, the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,
the derivative is de-designated as a hedging instrument because
it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur, or manage-
ment determines that designation of the derivative as a hedging
instrument is no longer appropriate. When hedge accounting is
discontinued because it is probable that a forecasted transaction
will not occur, the Company continues to carry the derivative on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet at its fair value, and gains and
losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income
(loss) are recognized immediately in earnings. When hedge
accounting is discontinued because it is determined that the
derivative no longer qualifies as an effective fair-value hedge, the
Company continues to carry the derivative on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at its fair value and no longer adjusts the hedged
asset or liability for changes in fair value. The adjustment of the
carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability is accounted for
in the same manner as other components of the carrying amount
of that asset or liability. In all other situations in which hedge
accounting is discontinued, the Company continues to carry the
derivative at its fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
and recognizes any changes in its fair value in earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Stock-based compensation The Company has a stock incentive
plan that provides for stock-based employee compensation,
including the granting of stock options and shares of restricted
stock, to certain key employees. The plan is more fully described
in Note 14. The Company accounts for the stock incentive plan in
accordance with the recognition and measurement principles of
APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
and related Interpretations. Under this method, compensation
expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the current market
price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. Under
the Company’s stock incentive plan, stock options are granted 
at exercise prices that equal the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant. Therefore, no compensation
expense related to stock options is recorded in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”),
established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-
value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS 123, the Company has
elected to continue to apply the intrinsic-value-based method 
of accounting described above, and has adopted only the disclo-
sure requirements of SFAS 123. The following table illustrates 
the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair-value-
based recognition provisions of SFAS 123 had been applied to 
all outstanding and unvested awards in each period:

(in millions, except per share amounts)
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net income, as reported $94 $76 $63

Add: Stock-based employee 

compensation expense included in 

reported net income, net of tax 1 1 1

Deduct: Stock-based employee 

compensation expense determined under 

fair value based method for all awards,

net of related tax effects (4) (3) (3)

Pro forma net income $91 $74 $61

Earnings per share:

Basic – as reported $1.28 $1.06 $0.89

Basic – pro forma $1.23 $1.03 $0.86

Diluted – as reported $1.25 $1.06 $0.89

Diluted – pro forma $1.21 $1.02 $0.85

Earnings per common share Basic earnings per common share
is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding (including redeemable common
stock), which totaled 73.4 million for 2004, 72.0 million for 2003
and 71.2 million for 2002. Diluted earnings per share (EPS) is
computed by dividing net income by the weighted average num-
ber of shares outstanding, including the dilutive effect of stock

options outstanding. The weighted average number of shares
outstanding for diluted EPS calculations were 74.7 million, 
72.4 million and 71.5 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, options to purchase 165,907,
2,078,978 and 1,950,332 shares of common stock, respectively,
were excluded from the calculation of the weighted average
number of shares outstanding for diluted EPS because their
effects were anti-dilutive. 

Risks and uncertainties The Company operates domestically 
and internationally in one business segment. In each country, the
business and assets are subject to varying degrees of risk and
uncertainty. The Company insures its business and assets in each
country against insurable risks in a manner that it deems appro-
priate. Because of this geographic dispersion, the Company
believes that a loss from non-insurable events in any one country
would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s oper-
ations as a whole. Additionally, the Company believes there is no
significant concentration of risk with any single customer or sup-
plier, or small group of customers or suppliers, whose failure or
non-performance would materially affect the Company’s results.

Recently issued accounting standards In December 2003, the
“Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act
of 2003” (the “Medicare Act”) was enacted into law. The Medicare
Act introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well
as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit
plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent
to Medicare Part D. Following the enactment into law of the
Medicare Act, on January 12, 2004, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
No. 106-1, which, on May 19, 2004, was superseded by FSP 106-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.”
FSP 106-2 provides guidance on the accounting for the effects 
of the Medicare Act for employers that sponsor postretirement
health care plans that provide prescription drug benefits. The
guidance in FSP 106-2 related to the accounting for the subsidy
applies only to the sponsor of a single-employer defined benefit
postretirement health care plan for which (a) the employer has
concluded that prescription drug benefits available under the
plan to some or all participants for some or all future years are
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D and thus qualify for the
subsidy under the Medicare Act and (b) the expected subsidy will
offset or reduce the employer’s share of the cost of the underlying
postretirement prescription drug coverage on which the subsidy
is based. The Company determined that the prescription drug
benefits under its US hourly postretirement health care plan are
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D, and adopted FSP 106-2
prospectively, effective July 1, 2004. The adoption of FSP 106-2
did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2004, the FASB ratified the consensuses reached by
the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) with respect to EITF Issue
No. 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments.” EITF Issue No. 03-1
addresses recognition, measurement and disclosure of other-
than-temporary impairment evaluations for securities within the
scope of SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities,” and equity securities that are not sub-
ject to the scope of SFAS No. 115 and are not accounted for under
the equity method. The recognition and measurement guidance
was effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2004.
In September 2004, FASB Staff Position EITF Issue No. 03-1-1 was
issued, which delays the effective date for the measurement and
recognition guidance contained in paragraphs 10–20 of EITF Issue
No. 03-1 pending final issuance of an FSP providing other applica-
tion guidance. Disclosures for cost method investments became
effective in annual financial statements for fiscal years ending
after June 15, 2004. See the paragraph entitled “Investments” in
this footnote for information relating to cost method investments.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 151, “Inventory Costs – 
an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS 151”), which
clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage. The standard
requires that such costs be excluded from the cost of inventory
and expensed when incurred. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal 
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not
expect that the adoption of SFAS 151 will have a material effect
on its consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 109-1,
“Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities
Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” This FSP,
which became effective upon issuance, provides that the tax
deduction for income with respect to qualified domestic produc-
tion activities, as part of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
that was enacted on October 22, 2004, will be treated as a special
deduction as described in SFAS No. 109. As a result, this deduc-
tion has no effect on the Company’s deferred tax assets and
liabilities existing at the date of enactment. Instead, the impact
of this deduction, which is effective January 1, 2005, will be
reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed on the
Company’s income tax returns. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS No. 109-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings
Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004.” This FSP, which became effective upon issuance, allows an
enterprise additional time beyond the financial reporting period
of enactment of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 to evalu-
ate the effect of this act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation
of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. See
Note 10 for additional information with respect to this FSP. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153,
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets – an amendment of APB 
No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” (“SFAS 153”),
which requires that exchanges of productive assets be accounted
for at fair value, rather than at carryover basis, unless (1) neither
the asset received nor the asset surrendered has a fair value that
is determinable within reasonable limits or (2) the transactions
lack commercial substance. SFAS 153 is effective for nonmonetary
asset exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June
15, 2005. The Company does not expect that the adoption of
SFAS 153 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which revises SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” and supersedes
APB 25. Among other items, SFAS 123R eliminates the use of
APB 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting, and requires
companies to recognize in the financial statements the cost of
employee services received in exchange for awards of equity
instruments, based on the grant-date fair value of those awards.
This cost is to be recognized over the period during which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award (typically the vesting period). SFAS 123R also requires that
benefits associated with tax deductions in excess of recognized
compensation cost be recognized by crediting additional paid-in
capital. Additionally, cash retained as a result of such excess tax
benefits are to be reported as a financing cash inflow, rather than
as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. 

SFAS 123R is effective as of the beginning of the first interim
reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, although early
adoption is allowed. SFAS 123R permits companies to adopt its
requirements using either a “modified prospective” method, or 
a “modified retrospective” method. Under the “modified prospec-
tive” method, compensation cost is recognized in the financial
statements beginning with the effective date, based on the require-
ments of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after
that date, and based on the requirements of SFAS 123 for all
unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS
123R. Under the “modified retrospective” method, the require-
ments are the same as under the “modified prospective” method,
but this method also permits entities to restate financial state-
ments of previous periods based on proforma disclosures made
in accordance with SFAS 123. The Company is currently evaluat-
ing the requirements of SFAS 123R and has not yet determined
the method of adoption it will use. The Company currently
expects to adopt SFAS 123R effective July 1, 2005. See Note 14
for further information regarding the Company’s stock-based
compensation plans. 
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3. Mexican Tax on Beverages Sweetened with HFCS
On January 1, 2002, a discriminatory tax on beverages sweet-
ened with high fructose corn syrup (“HFCS”) approved by the
Mexican Congress late in 2001, became effective. In response to
the enactment of the tax, which at the time, effectively ended the
use of HFCS for beverages in Mexico, the Company ceased pro-
duction of HFCS 55 at its San Juan del Rio plant, one of its three
plants in Mexico. Over time, the Company resumed production
and sales of HFCS to certain beverage customers. These sales
increased significantly beginning late in the third quarter of 2004
and are continuing; however, the tax remains in place. 

The Company’s ability to fully recover the carrying value of 
its long-term investment in Mexico, which consists primarily of
goodwill and property, plant and equipment associated with the
Mexican operations, is dependent upon the generation of suffi-
cient cash flows from the use or disposition of these assets.
Based on long-term forecasts of operating results, including the
assumptions described below, the Company believes that it will
generate sufficient cash flows from these long-term assets to fully
recover their carrying values, and accordingly, no impairment of
either goodwill or other long-term assets related to Mexico was
recognized as of December 31, 2004. 

In developing the estimates of the cash flows expected to 
be generated from the Mexican operations, the Company has
assumed that shipments of HFCS to the Mexican beverage industry
will reach levels, beginning in 2005, that will be significantly
higher than the actual results from each of the three previous
years. Under these assumptions, the estimated fair value of the
Company’s Mexican business would exceed its carrying amount.
These assumptions are supported by the following significant
external events:

• During the third and fourth quarters of 2004, the Company
increased production and sales of HFCS to certain Mexican bev-
erage customers which have continued through February 2005.
These customers have obtained court rulings which have
exempted them from paying the tax. 

• There has been a sugar shortage in Mexico caused in part 
by the tax.

• The United States government filed a complaint with the World
Trade Organization accusing Mexico of imposing unfair taxes 
on beverages sweetened with HFCS. 

• At differing times, meetings have been conducted between vari-
ous representatives of United States sugar and HFCS producers,
corn growers, and the Mexican sugar industry in an ongoing
attempt to work out a solution to the various trade disputes that
led to the imposition of the tax.

• Two other United States based companies have jointly filed an
arbitration claim against the Mexican government for compensa-
tion under the investment provisions of the North American Free
Trade Agreement (NAFTA).

In addition to these developments related to the tax, the
Company has also taken several actions to mitigate the effect 
of continued imposition of the tax on its business in Mexico.
These include:

• Continuing the lobbying efforts seeking relief from the tax.
• Exploring new markets for the HFCS production capability in 

and around Mexico.
• Restructuring of the Mexican operations in an effort to improve

efficiency and reduce operating costs, including the closing of
one plant in the fourth quarter of 2004.

• Submitting an arbitration claim against the government of Mexico
under the provisions of NAFTA seeking recovery in an amount
not less than $325 million.

The assumptions used to formulate the cash flow estimates
are subject to change in the future based on business conditions,
including but not limited to a change in the current level of HFCS
shipments to the Mexican beverage industry, as well as events
affecting the likelihood of repeal of the tax and the results of the
impairment calculations could be significantly different if per-
formed at a later date. In the event that the tax is not ultimately
repealed or modified, or that actual results differ from those
assumed, the Company could be required to recognize an impair-
ment of goodwill and the amount of such impairment could be
material. It could also lead to a further reorganization of our
Mexican operations. The carrying value of the goodwill related 
to the Mexican operations was approximately $120 million at
December 31, 2004.

As stated in previous filings, the Company continues its
efforts to gain repeal of the tax and at the same time, to pursue
the implementation of the alternative business strategies and
operating cost reductions. However, there have been no formal
actions taken toward the repeal of the tax. While the Company
continues to believe that the profitability of the Mexican opera-
tions will support the carrying value of the goodwill, the Company
continues to reevaluate certain of the key assumptions underlying
the cash flow projections. The Company believes a continued lack
of definitive results in negotiations with the Mexican government
leading to the repeal or modification of the tax could increase the
likelihood that an impairment charge would be required unless
HFCS sales to the Mexican beverage industry continue at or above
current levels for the long term. The amount of such non-cash
charge, if any, will depend on the Company’s assessment of the
effect that the factors identified above have on expected future
cash flow.

In concluding that an impairment of the Mexican goodwill
may arise if the tax is not repealed or its effect on HFCS sales in
Mexico otherwise mitigated, the Company has not assumed that
any proceeds would be received from its arbitration claim for
compensation under NAFTA against the Mexican government. Any
recovery the Company receives from the resolution of this claim
would reduce or offset, in whole or in part, the amount of any
impairment to be recognized. However, no assurance can be made
that the Company will be successful with its arbitration claim. 
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4. Acquisitions/Dispositions 
On December 29, 2004, the Company increased its ownership in
Doosan Corn Products Korea, Inc. to 100 percent by purchasing
an additional 25 percent ownership interest from the minority
interest shareholders, and subsequently renamed the wholly
owned subsidiary Corn Products Korea, Inc. The Company paid
$65 million in cash to acquire the additional ownership interest,
which approximated the carrying value of the minority interest. 

On December 1, 2004, the Company sold its investment in
Nihon Shokuhin Kako Kabishiki Kaisha (“NSK”), a Japanese corn
refiner, for $21 million in cash. The Company recorded a $1 mil-
lion pretax gain from the sale, which is included in other income
in the 2004 Consolidated Statement of Income. Prior to the sale,
the Company had accounted for its investment in NSK as a non-
consolidated affiliate under the cost method, and classified the
$20 million investment in other non-current assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

On March 27, 2003, the Company increased its ownership in
its Southern Cone of South America business to 100 percent by
purchasing an additional 27.76 percent ownership interest from
the minority interest shareholders. The Company paid $53 million
to acquire the additional ownership interest, consisting of $45
million in cash and the issuance of 541,584 shares of common
stock valued at $8 million. Goodwill of approximately $37 million
was recorded.

On March 4, 2002, the Company increased its ownership in 
its Mexican consolidated subsidiary, Compania Proveedora de
Ingredientes, S.A. de C.V. (“CP Ingredientes”), formerly Arancia
Corn Products S.A. de C.V. (“Arancia”), from 90 percent to 100 per-
cent, by paying $39 million in cash and issuing 140,000 shares 
of common stock valued at $2 million. Certain affiliates of the
previous minority interest shareholder in CP Ingredientes have
the right to require the Company to reacquire 1,227,000 shares 
of the Company’s common stock at prices that approximate 
market value until January 2010. These shares are classified as
Redeemable Common Stock in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets (see Note 13). 

On February 5, 2002, the Company sold its interest in Enzyme
Bio-Systems Ltd. of Beloit, Wisconsin (“EBS”) for approximately
$35 million in cash. The Company recorded a pretax gain from
the sale of approximately $8 million, which is included in other
income in the 2002 Consolidated Statement of Income. 

The Company made other acquisitions during the last three
years, none of which, either individually or in the aggregate,
were material. 

All of the Company’s acquisitions were accounted for under
the purchase method. Had the acquisitions/dispositions described
above occurred at the beginning of the respective years, the
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements would
not have been significant.

5. Joint Marketing Company
On December 1, 2000, the Company and Minnesota Corn
Processors, LLC (“MCP”) consummated an operating agreement
to form CornProductsMCP Sweeteners LLC (“CPMCP”), a joint
marketing company that, effective January 1, 2001, began distrib-
uting throughout the United States sweeteners supplied from the
Company and MCP. 

On December 27, 2002 the Company and MCP agreed in prin-
ciple to a plan of dissolution that allowed for the orderly wind-up
of CPMCP’s activities. Under the terms of the plan of dissolution,
on December 31, 2002 MCP paid an $11 million termination fee
to the Company as required under the terms of the CPMCP Limited
Liability Company Agreement between the Company and MCP
dated December 1, 2000. In addition, the Company recorded an
$8 million charge for its share of costs incurred relating to the
dissolution. These expenses consisted primarily of direct incre-
mental costs incurred by CPMCP as a result of the dissolution,
including expenses related to the termination of employees, early
termination of leases, losses on the disposition of assets and
other wind-down costs. The net non-recurring income of $3 mil-
lion ($2 million after-tax, or $0.03 per diluted share) is included in
other income in the 2002 Consolidated Statement of Income.

Prior to the dissolution, CPMCP was owned equally by 
the Company and MCP through membership interests that pro-
vided each company with a 50 percent voting interest in CPMCP.
Additionally, CPMCP’s Board of Directors was composed of an
equal number of representatives from both members. The Company
accounted for its interest in CPMCP as a non-consolidated affili-
ate using the equity method of accounting.

Both the Company and MCP owned and operated their
respective production facilities and sold all US production of certain
designated sweeteners to CPMCP for exclusive distribution in the
United States. Additionally, any designated sweetener production
from the Company’s operations in Canada and Mexico that was
sold in the US was distributed through CPMCP. Sales to CPMCP
were made at predetermined market-related prices.

Sales to CPMCP were recognized at the time title to the goods
and all risks of ownership transferred to CPMCP. The Company
eliminated 100 percent of the profit associated with sales to CPMCP
until the risk of ownership and title to the product passed from
CPMCP to its customers.

The Company recorded its share of CPMCP’s net earnings as
earnings from a non-consolidated affiliate. The amount recorded
represented the Company’s allocated share of the net earnings 
of CPMCP, based upon the percentage of designated product vol-
umes supplied to CPMCP by the Company as compared to the
total designated product volumes supplied to CPMCP by the
Company and the venture partner, MCP.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s transactions
with CPMCP:

(in millions) 2002

Sales to CPMCP $417

Purchases from CPMCP 30

Commission expense to CPMCP 1

Fees and reimbursement income from CPMCP 14

Receivables due from CPMCP at December 31 30

Payables due to CPMCP at December 31 2

All obligations due to/from CPMCP have been settled.

Summarized financial information for CPMCP is shown below:

(in millions)
At December 31, 2002

Current assets $««68

Non-current assets –

Total assets $««68

Current liabilities $««53

Total equity 15

Total liabilities and equity $««68

(in millions)
Year ended December 31, 2002

Net sales $849

Gross profit 22

Net income $÷12

6. Restructuring Charges
As part of a manufacturing optimization initiative in Mexico and
South America, the Company permanently closed two production
facilities in the fourth quarter of 2004. As a result of these plant
closures, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $21 mil-
lion ($15 million after-tax) which is classified as plant closing costs
in the Consolidated Statement of Income for 2004. The $21 million
charge consists of a $19 million write-off of fixed assets and a 
$2 million expense for employee severance costs and related ben-
efits pertaining to the termination of approximately 160 employees.
The $19 million charge included write-offs of fixed assets in Mexico
and South America of approximately $14 million and $5 million,
respectively. The $2 million charge for employee severance and
related benefits includes costs of $1 million in each of Mexico
and South America. As of December 31, 2004, the restructuring
accrual balance approximated $1 million, principally consisting
of employee severance costs and related benefits for the remain-
ing 22 South American employees soon to depart the Company. 

In 2002, the Company implemented a restructuring plan to
improve North American profitability that included the termina-
tion of approximately 200 employees throughout the three North
American countries in which it operates and the cancellation of

certain lease obligations. In connection with this restructuring
plan, the Company recorded charges of $4 million during the first
quarter of 2002. Of this amount, approximately $3 million repre-
sented employee severance costs and related benefits and the
balance represented provisions relating to the lease obligations.
The charge of $4 million was classified in general and adminis-
trative expenses. As of December 31, 2002, all of the employee
terminations under the 2002 restructuring plan were completed
and the restructuring accrual was fully utilized. 

7. Financial Instruments, Derivatives and Hedging Activities 

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying values of cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximate fair
values. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated
by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates
currently available to the Company for similar debt instruments
of comparable maturities. Based on market quotes of the yields
at which the Company could issue debt with similar terms and
remaining maturities, the fair value of long-term debt, including
the current portion of long-term debt, at December 31, 2004 and
2003, was $540 million and $546 million, respectively.

Derivatives
The Company uses derivative financial instruments primarily 
to manage the exposure to price risk related to corn and natural
gas purchases used in the manufacturing process and to manage
its exposure to changes in interest rates on outstanding debt
instruments. The Company generally does not enter into deriva-
tive instruments for any purpose other than hedging the cash
flows associated with future interest payments on variable rate
debt and specific volumes of commodities that will be purchased
and processed in a future month, and hedging the exposure
related to changes in the fair value of certain outstanding fixed
rate debt instruments. The Company occasionally hedges com-
mercial transactions and certain liabilities that are denominated
in a currency other than the currency of the operating unit enter-
ing into the underlying transaction. The Company does not
speculate using derivative instruments. 

The derivative financial instruments that the Company uses in
its management of commodity-price risk consist of open futures
contracts and options traded through regulated commodity
exchanges. The derivative financial instruments that the Company
uses in its management of interest rate risk consist of interest
rate swap agreements. By using derivative financial instruments
to hedge exposures to changes in commodity prices and interest
rates, the Company exposes itself to credit risk and market risk.
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will fail to perform
under the terms of the derivative contract. When the fair value 
of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes the
Company, which creates credit risk for the Company. When the
fair value of a derivative contract is negative, the Company owes
the counterparty and, therefore, it does not possess credit risk.
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The Company minimizes the credit risk in derivative instruments
by entering into transactions only with investment grade coun-
terparties. Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of a
financial instrument that results from a change in commodity
prices or interest rates. The market risk associated with commodity-
price and interest rate contracts is managed by establishing and
monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market
risk that may be undertaken.

The Company maintains a commodity-price risk management
strategy that uses derivative instruments to minimize significant,
unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by commodity-price
volatility. For example, the manufacturing of the Company’s
products requires a significant volume of corn and natural gas.
Price fluctuations in corn and natural gas cause market values 
of corn inventory to differ from its cost and the actual purchase
price of corn and natural gas to differ from anticipated prices.

The Company periodically enters into futures and option 
contracts for a portion of its anticipated corn and natural gas
usage generally over the next twelve months, in order to hedge
the price risk associated with fluctuations in market prices. The
contracts limit the unfavorable effect that price increases will have
on corn and natural gas purchases. All of the Company’s futures
and option contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges. 

Unrealized gains and losses associated with marking the 
corn and natural gas futures and option contracts to market are
recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (loss)
and included in the stockholders’ equity section of the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as part of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). These amounts are subsequently reclassified into
earnings in the month in which the related corn or natural gas is
used or in the month a hedge is determined to be ineffective. 

The Company assesses the effectiveness of a hedge with a
corn or natural gas futures or option contract based on changes
in the contract’s intrinsic value. The changes in the market value
of such contracts has historically been, and is expected to continue
to be, highly effective at offsetting changes in the price of the
hedged item. The amounts representing the ineffectiveness of
these cash flow hedges are not significant.

The Company assesses its exposure to variability in interest
rates by continually identifying and monitoring changes in interest
rates that may adversely impact future cash flows and the fair
value of existing debt instruments, and by evaluating hedging
opportunities. The Company maintains risk management control
systems to monitor interest rate risk attributable to both the
Company’s outstanding and forecasted debt obligations as well
as the Company’s offsetting hedge positions. The risk management
control systems involve the use of analytical techniques, including
sensitivity analysis, to estimate the expected impact of changes
in interest rates on the fair value of the Company’s outstanding
and forecasted debt instruments.

The Company uses a combination of fixed and variable rate
debt to finance its operations. The debt obligations with fixed
cash flows expose the Company to variability in the fair value 

of outstanding debt instruments due to changes in interest rates.
The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements
that effectively convert the interest rate on certain fixed rate debt
to a variable rate. These swaps call for the Company to receive
interest at a fixed rate and to pay interest at a variable rate,
thereby creating the equivalent of variable rate debt. The Company
has designated these interest rate swap agreements as hedges 
of the changes in fair value of the underlying debt obligation
attributable to changes in interest rates and accounts for them 
as fair value hedges. Changes in the fair value of interest rate
swaps designated as hedging instruments that effectively offset
the variability in the fair value of outstanding debt obligations
are reported in earnings. These amounts offset the gain or loss
(that is, the change in fair value) of the hedged debt instrument
that is attributable to changes in interest rates (that is, the hedged
risk) which is also recognized currently in earnings. The Company
has also entered into a cross currency interest rate swap agree-
ment that effectively converts certain floating rate US dollar
denominated debt to a fixed rate Korean Won obligation. This
swap has been designated as a hedge of floating interest rate
payments attributable to changes in interest rates and is accounted
for as a cash flow hedge, with changes in the fair value of the
swap recorded to other comprehensive income (loss) until the
hedged transaction occurs, at which time it is reclassified to
earnings. The net gain or loss recognized in earnings during
2004, 2003 and 2002, representing the amount of the Company’s
hedges’ ineffectiveness and the component of the Company’s
derivative instruments’ gain or loss excluded from the assess-
ment of hedge effectiveness, was not significant.

At December 31, 2004, the Company’s accumulated other com-
prehensive income (loss) account included $29 million of losses,
net of a $16 million tax benefit, related to derivative instruments
that hedge the anticipated cash flows from future transactions,
which are expected to be recognized in earnings within the next
twelve months. Transactions and events expected to occur over
the next twelve months that will necessitate reclassifying these
derivatives losses to earnings include the sale of finished goods
inventory that includes previously hedged purchases of raw corn
and the usage of hedged natural gas. Additionally, at December 31,
2004 the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) account
included $5 million of unrealized gains, net of tax, that are expected
to be recognized in earnings in 2006 when the underlying hedged
natural gas is used in the production process. Cash flow hedges
discontinued during 2004 were not material.

8. Financing Arrangements
The Company had total debt outstanding of $568 million and
$550 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Short-
term borrowings at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consist primarily
of amounts outstanding under various unsecured local country
operating lines of credit. 
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Short-term borrowings consist of the following at December 31:

(in millions) 2004 2003

Borrowings in various currencies 

(at rates of 1% – 10% for 2004 and 2003) $88 $56

Current maturities of long-term debt – 42

Total short-term borrowings $88 $98

On September 2, 2004, the Company entered into a new 5-year,
$180 million Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolving Credit
Agreement”), which replaced the previously existing $150 million
revolving credit facility. The Revolving Credit Agreement provides
for a $150 million revolving credit facility in the US and a $30 mil-
lion revolving credit facility for the Company’s wholly owned
Canadian subsidiary. The Canadian revolving credit facility is
guaranteed by Corn Products International, Inc. There were no
borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Agreement
at December 31, 2004, or under the previously existing $150 mil-
lion revolving credit facility at December 31, 2003. 

On April 6, 2004, Corn Products Korea, Inc. (“CPK”) entered
into a 3-year, $17.5 million (US) floating rate term loan agreement
to refinance certain local indebtedness. Concurrently, CPK entered
into a cross-currency interest rate swap agreement that effectively
converts the 3-year US dollar floating rate term loan to a 3-year,
fixed-rate (5.4 percent) 20 billion Korean Won obligation. Interest
is payable quarterly in July, October, January and April. 

Also on April 6, 2004, CPK sold, in privately placed transactions,
two 10 billion Korean Won floating rate bonds (each approximat-
ing $9 million US) to refinance certain local indebtedness. The
bonds mature on April 6, 2005 and April 6, 2006, respectively.
Interest is payable monthly. 

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31:

(in millions) 2004 2003

8.25% senior notes, due 2007 $254 $253

8.45% senior notes, due 2009 199 199

Korean loans, due 2006 – 2008 (at rates of 

4.7% to 5.5% for 2004 and 5.3% to 9.1% for 2003) 27 42

Total $480 $494

Less current maturities – 42

Long-term debt $480 $452

The Company’s long-term debt matures as follows: $10 mil-
lion in 2006, $272 million in 2007 and $200 million in 2009. 

Corn Products International, Inc. guarantees certain obligations
of several of its consolidated subsidiaries, which aggregated 
$41 million and $32 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. 

On March 14, 2002, the Company entered into interest rate
swap agreements to take advantage of the current interest rate
environment by effectively converting the interest rate associated
with the Company’s 8.45 percent $200 million senior notes due

2009 to a variable rate. These agreements involve the exchange
of fixed rate payments (at 8.45 percent) for variable rate payments
on $200 million of notional principal without the exchange of the
underlying face amount. Under the terms of the agreements, the
Company receives fixed rate payments and makes variable rate
payments based on the six-month US dollar LIBOR rate plus a
spread. The fair value of these interest rate swap agreements
approximated $18 and $22 million at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Interest rate differentials to be paid or received
under these agreements are recognized as adjustments to interest
expense using the accrual method. The Company does not enter
into interest rate swap agreements for trading purposes.

9. Leases
The Company leases rail cars, certain machinery and equipment,
and office space under various operating leases. Rental expense
under operating leases was $23 million, $25 million, and $22 mil-
lion in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. Minimum lease payments
due on leases existing at December 31, 2004 are shown below: 

(in millions)
Year Minimum Lease Payment

2005 $18

2006 14

2007 14

2008 12

2009 11

Balance thereafter 15

10. Income Taxes
The components of income before income taxes and the provision
for income taxes are shown below:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Income before income taxes:

United States $÷÷9 $÷11 $÷22

Outside the United States 136 124 95

Total $145 $135 $117

Provision for income taxes:

Current tax expense

US federal $÷÷6 $÷÷4 $÷10

State and local 1 1 4

Foreign 45 40 34

Total current $÷52 $÷45 $÷48

Deferred tax expense (benefit)

US federal $«÷(5) $«÷(3) $«÷(8)

State and local – – (1)

Foreign, after effect of $6 benefit 

for enacted rate reduction in 2004 3 9 9

Foreign-tax benefit of net operating 

loss carryforward (7) (2) (6)

Total deferred $«÷(9) $÷÷4 $«÷(6)

Total provision $÷43 $÷49 $÷42
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Deferred income taxes are provided for the tax effects of tem-
porary differences between the financial reporting basis and tax
basis of assets and liabilities. Significant temporary differences
at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are attributable to:

(in millions) 2004 2003 

Deferred tax assets attributable to:

Employee benefit accruals $÷17 $÷14

Pensions 5 6

Hedging/derivative contracts 18 –

Foreign tax losses 7 15

Foreign minimum tax credits 13 9

Other 19 20

Valuation allowance (7) (3)

Total deferred tax assets $÷72 $÷61

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to:

Plants and properties $159 $167

Hedging/derivative contracts 2 5

Goodwill 8 5

Inventory 4 17

Other 4 2

Total deferred tax liabilities $177 $196

Net deferred tax liabilities $105 $135

Deferred tax assets of $7 million at December 31, 2004 and
$15 million at December 31, 2003 were related to tax loss carry-
forwards of foreign operations. The tax loss carryforwards will
expire at various dates from 2006 to 2014. The valuation allowance
at December 31, 2004 increased to $7 million from $3 million at
December 31, 2003. The valuation allowance represents unrecog-
nized tax benefits related to certain foreign loss and foreign tax
credit carryforwards that may not be fully utilized to offset 
taxable income before they expire.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the
Company’s effective tax rate follows:

2004 2003 2002

Provision for tax at US statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Taxes related to foreign income (4.9) 3.4 0.3

State and local taxes – net 0.2 0.3 1.5

Tax credits (1.1) (1.0) (1.3)

Other items – net .8 (1.7) 0.5

Provision at effective tax rate 30.0% 36.0% 36.0%

Provisions are made for estimated US and foreign income
taxes, less credits that may be available, on distributions from
foreign subsidiaries to the extent dividends are anticipated. No
provision has been made for income taxes on approximately
$493 million of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries 
at December 31, 2004, as such amounts are considered perma-
nently reinvested.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
was enacted. This Act provides for a special one-time tax deduc-
tion of 85 percent of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated,
as defined in the Act. The Company is in the process of evaluat-
ing the effects, if any, of the repatriation provision. The Company
expects to complete this evaluation by March 31, 2005. Upon
completion of this evaluation, the Company will disclose the
impact, if any, of the repatriation provision.

11. Benefit Plans 
The Company and its subsidiaries sponsor noncontributory
defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees
in the United States and Canada, and certain employees in other
foreign countries. Plans for most salaried employees provide 
pay-related benefits based on years of service. Plans for hourly
employees generally provide benefits based on flat dollar
amounts and years of service. The Company’s general funding
policy is to make contributions to the plans in amounts that are
within the limits of deductibility under current tax regulations.
Certain foreign countries allow income tax deductions without
regard to contribution levels, and the Company’s policy in those
countries is to make the contribution required by the terms 
of the applicable plan. Domestic plan assets consist primarily 
of common stock, corporate debt securities and short-term
investment funds.

Domestic salaried employees are covered by a defined benefit
“cash balance” pension plan, which provides benefits based on
service and Company credits to the participating employees’
accounts of between 3 percent and 10 percent of base salary,
bonus and overtime.

The Company also provides healthcare and life insurance
benefits for retired employees in the United States and Canada.
US salaried employees are provided with access to postretirement
medical insurance through Retirement Health Care Spending
Accounts. US salaried employees accrue an account during
employment, which can be used after employment to purchase
postretirement medical insurance from the Company and
Medigap or through Medicare HMO policies after age 65. The
accounts are credited with a flat dollar amount and indexed for
inflation annually during employment. The accounts also accrue
interest credits using a rate equal to a specified amount above
the yield on five-year Treasury notes. Employees can use the
amounts accumulated in these accounts, including credited inter-
est, to purchase postretirement medical insurance. Employees
become eligible for benefits when they meet minimum age and
service requirements. The Company recognizes the cost of these
postretirement benefits by accruing a flat dollar amount on an
annual basis for each domestic salaried employee. The Company
has the right to modify or terminate these benefits. Healthcare
benefits for retirees outside the United States and Canada are
generally covered through local government plans. 
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Pension Obligation and Funded Status The changes in pension
benefit obligations and plan assets during 2004 and 2003, as well
as the funded status and the amounts recognized in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets related to the Company’s pension
plans at December 31, 2004 and 2003, were as follows:

US Plans Non-US Plans

(in millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Benefit obligation

At January 1 $«63 $«50 $«85 $«68

Service cost 2 2 2 2

Interest cost 4 3 5 5

Benefits paid (3) (2) (5) (4)

Actuarial loss 1 10 3 1

Foreign currency translation – – 7 13

Benefit obligation at 

December 31 $«67 $«63 $«97 $«85

Fair value of plan assets

At January 1 $«43 $«35 $«70 $«53

Actual return on plan assets 3 4 6 6

Employer contributions 8 6 4 3

Benefits paid (3) (2) (5) (4)

Foreign currency translation – – 6 12

Fair value of plan assets at 

December 31 $«51 $«43 $«81 $«70

Funded status $(16) $(20) $(16) $(15)

Unrecognized net 

actuarial loss 9 8 18 16

Unrecognized prior 

service cost 3 3 1 1

Unrecognized transition 

obligation – – 5 5

Net prepaid pension asset 

(liability) $÷(4) $÷(9) $÷«8 $÷«7

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:

US Plans Non-US Plans

(in millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Prepaid benefit cost $÷– $÷– $(12) $(9)

Accrued benefit cost 12 17 10 7

Intangible assets (2) (3) (5) (5)

Accumulated other 

comprehensive income (6) (5) (1) –

Net amount recognized $÷4 $÷9 $÷(8) $(7)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit
pension plans was $148 million and $122 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003.

For plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess 
of plan assets:

US Plans Non-US Plans

(in millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation $67 $63 $13 $10

Accumulated benefit obligation 63 60 12 9

Fair value of plan assets 51 43 2 2

Included in the Company’s pension obligation are nonqualified
supplemental retirement plans for certain key employees. All
benefits provided under these plans are unfunded, and payments
to plan participants are made by the Company.

Components of Net Periodic Pension Benefit Cost Net pension
cost consisted of the following for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002:

US Plans Non-US Plans

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $«2 $«2 $«2 $«2 $«2 $«2

Interest cost 4 3 3 5 5 4

Expected return on 

plan assets (3) (2) (3) (5) (5) (4)

Net pension cost $«3 $«3 $«2 $«2 $«2 $«2

The Company recognized an additional minimum liability 
at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, related to under-funded
plans. In connection with the recognition of this minimum liabil-
ity, at December 31, 2004 the Company recorded a charge to
other comprehensive income of $1.7 million ($0.9 million, net of
income tax of $0.8 million). At December 31, 2003, the Company
recorded a charge to other comprehensive income of $4 million
($2.6 million, net of income taxes of $1.4 million). At December
31, 2002, the Company recorded an intangible asset of $3 mil-
lion and a charge to other comprehensive income of $1 million
($0.6 million, net of income taxes of $0.4 million) related to the
recognition of the minimum pension liability. The minimum 
pension liability will change from year to year as a result of revi-
sions to actuarial assumptions, experience gains or losses and
settlement rate changes. 

The following weighted average assumptions were used to
determine the Company’s obligations under the pension plans: 

US Plans Non-US Plans

2004 2003 2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0% 6.25% 6.5%

Rate of compensation increase 2.75% 3.0% 4.5% 4.5%
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The following weighted average assumptions were used 
to determine the Company’s net periodic benefit cost for the 
pension plans: 

US Plans Non-US Plans

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.0% 6.75% 7.5% 6.5% 6.5% 6.5%

Expected long-term 

return on plan assets 7.5% 8.25% 9.0% 8.5% 8.5% 8.5%

Rate of compensation

increase 3.0% 3.75% 4.0% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%

The Company has assumed an expected long-term rate of
return on assets of 7.5 percent for US plans. In developing the
expected long-term rate of return assumption on plan assets
which consist mainly of US equity and debt securities, manage-
ment evaluated historical rates of return achieved on plan assets,
and the asset allocation of the plans, as well as input from the
Company’s independent actuaries and investment consultants
and long-term inflation rate assumptions. Projected returns by
such consultants are based upon broad equity and bond indices. 

Plan Assets The Company’s investment policy for its pension
plans is to balance risk and return through diversified portfolios
of high-quality equity, fixed income securities, and short-term
investments. Maturities for fixed income securities are managed
such that sufficient liquidity exists to meet near-term benefit pay-
ment obligations. For US pension plans, the weighted average
target range allocation of assets is 32 – 52 percent with equity
managers, and 47 – 67 percent with fixed income managers. The
asset allocation is reviewed regularly and portfolio investments
are rebalanced periodically to the targeted allocation when consid-
ered appropriate. The Company’s pension plan weighted average
asset allocation as of the measurement date of September 30 for
US plans and November 30 for non-US plans is as follows: 

US Plans Non-US Plans

Asset Category 2004 2003 2004 2003

Equity securities 52% 41% 57% 56%

Debt securities 47% 46% 39% 41%

Other 1% 13% 4% 3%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%%

The Company made an $8 million cash contribution to its US
pension plans in 2004, and a $4 million cash contribution to its
Canadian pension plans. The Company estimates that in 2005 it

will make cash contributions of $4 million and $6 million to its
US and Canadian pension plans, respectively. Cash contributions
in subsequent years will depend on a number of factors including
performance of plan assets. The following benefit payments, which
reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to
be made:

(in millions) US Plans Non-US Plans

2005 $÷6 $÷6

2006 6 5

2007 11 5

2008 5 5

2009 5 6

Years 2010 – 2014 24 33

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries also maintain
defined contribution plans. The Company makes matching con-
tributions to these plans based on a percentage of employee
contributions. Amounts charged to expense for defined contribu-
tion plans totaled $5 million, $4 million and $4 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Postretirement Benefit Plans The Company’s postretirement 
benefit plans currently are not funded. The changes in the benefit
obligations of the plans during 2004 and 2003, and the amounts
recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, were as follows:

(in millions) 2004 2003

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation

At January 1 $«43 $«31

Service cost 1 1

Interest cost 3 2

Actuarial (gain) loss (1) 10

Benefits paid (2) (2)

Foreign currency translation – 1

Benefit obligation at December 31 $«44 $«43

Unrecognized net actuarial loss (11) (14)

Unrecognized prior service benefit 1 2

Accrued postretirement benefit costs $«34 $«31

Net postretirement benefit costs consisted of the following 
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $1 $1 $«1

Interest cost 3 2 2

Curtailment gain on divestiture 

of Enzyme Bio-Systems – – (1)

Net postretirement benefit costs $4 $3 $«2
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The following weighted average assumptions were used 
to determine the Company’s obligations under the postretire-
ment plans: 

2004 2003

Discount rate 5.75% 6.0%

The following weighted average assumptions were used to
determine the Company’s net postretirement benefit cost: 

2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.0% 6.75% 6.75%

In measuring the postretirement benefit obligation, the
Company assumed an increase for next year in the per capita cost
of healthcare benefits of 9.5 percent in 2004 and 2003, declining
to 5 percent by the year 2014 and remaining at that level there-
after. An increase in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate by 
1 percentage point would increase the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation at December 31, 2004 by $5 million, while a
decrease in the rate of 1 percentage point would decrease the obli-
gation by $4 million, with a corresponding effect on the service
and interest cost components of the net periodic postretirement
benefit cost for the year then ended of $0.5 million.

Estimated future benefit payments The following benefit pay-
ments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, 
are expected to be made under the Company’s postretirement
benefit plans:

(in millions) US Plans Non-US Plans

2005 $÷2 $÷–

2006 2 –

2007 2 –

2008 2 –

2009 2 –

Years 2010 – 2014 12 1

In December 2003, the President of the United States signed
into law the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 (“Medicare Act”). The Medicare Act
introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as
a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans
that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. Following the enactment into law of the Medicare
Act, on January 12, 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. 106-1, which,
on May 19, 2004, was superseded by FSP 106-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription

Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” FSP 106-2
provides guidance on the accounting for the effects of the
Medicare Act for employers that sponsor postretirement health
care plans that provide prescription drug benefits. The guidance
in FSP 106-2 related to the accounting for the subsidy applies only
to the sponsor of a single-employer defined benefit postretire-
ment health care plan for which (a) the employer has concluded
that prescription drug benefits available under the plan to some
or all participants for some or all future years are actuarially equiv-
alent to Medicare Part D and thus qualify for the subsidy under the
Medicare Act and (b) the expected subsidy will offset or reduce 
the employer’s share of the cost of the underlying postretirement
prescription drug coverage on which the subsidy is based. The
Company determined that the prescription drug benefits under
its US hourly postretirement health care plan are actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D, and adopted FSP 106-2 prospec-
tively, effective July 1, 2004. The adoption of FSP 106-2 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

12. Supplementary Information
Balance sheet Supplementary information is set forth below:

(in millions) 2004 2003

Accounts receivable – net:

Accounts receivable – trade $241 $234

Accounts receivable – other 56 25

Allowance for doubtful accounts (6) (7)

Total accounts receivable – net $291 $252

Inventories:

Finished and in process $107 $÷96

Raw materials 112 86

Manufacturing supplies 39 33

Total inventories $258 $215

Accrued liabilities:

Compensation expenses $÷33 $÷25

Dividends payable 5 4

Accrued interest 16 17

Accrued income taxes 15 11

Taxes payable other than income taxes 18 18

Other 26 21

Total accrued liabilities $113 $÷96

Non-current liabilities:

Employees’ pension, indemnity,

retirement, and other $÷84 $÷82

Fair value adjustment related to 

hedged fixed rate debt instrument 18 22

Other 14 14

Total non-current liabilities $116 $118
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Income statement Supplementary information is set forth below:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates 

and other income (expense) – net:

Earnings from non-controlled affiliates $÷1 $÷1 $÷7

Gain from sale of investment 1 – –

Write-down of long-lived assets – (3) –

Gain from sale of EBS – – 8

Gain from dissolution of CPMCP – – 3

Other 2 1 2

Total earnings from non-controlled 

affiliates and other income (expense) $÷4 $«(1) $20

Financing costs:

Interest expense $36 $40 $39

Interest income (3) (1) (2)

Foreign currency transaction losses (gains) 1 – (1)

Financing costs – net $34 $39 $36

Statements of cash flow Supplementary information is set 
forth below:

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Interest paid $«34 $41 $29

Income taxes paid 46 43 47

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Change in fair value and number of 

shares of redeemable common stock (34) 9 (8)

Issuance of common stock in connection 

with acquisitions – 8 2

13. Redeemable Common Stock
The Company has an agreement with certain common stockhold-
ers (collectively the “holder”), a representative of which serves on
the Company’s Board of Directors, relating to certain common
shares, that provides the holder with the right to require the
Company to repurchase the underlying common shares for cash
at a price equal to the average of the closing per share market
price of the Company’s common stock for the 20 trading days
immediately preceding the date that the holder exercises the put
option. The put option is exercisable at any time until January
2010 when it expires. The holder can also elect to sell the com-
mon shares on the open market, subject to certain restrictions.
The common shares subject to the put option are classified as
redeemable common stock in the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets. 

During 2004, the holder sold 2,600,000 shares of redeemable
common stock in open market transactions, thereby reducing 
the number of redeemable common shares from 3,827,000 shares
at December 31, 2003 to 1,227,000 shares at December 31, 2004.

The carrying value of the redeemable common stock was $33 mil-
lion at December 31, 2004 and $67 million at December 31, 2003,
based on the average of the closing per share market prices of
the Company’s common stock for the 20 trading days immediately
preceding the respective balance sheet dates ($26.90 per share
and $17.60 per share at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively).
Adjustments to mark the redeemable common stock to market
value are recorded directly against additional paid-in capital in
the stockholders’ equity section of the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets. 

The Company has the right, but not the obligation, to extend
the put option for an additional three years. The holder of the 
put option may not require the Company to repurchase less than
500,000 shares on any single exercise of the option, and the put
option may not be exercised more than once in any six-month
period. In the event the holder exercises the put option requiring
the Company to repurchase the shares, the Company would be
required to pay for the shares within 90 calendar days from the
exercise date if the holder is selling the minimum number of
shares (500,000), and within a prorated time period of between
90 and 360 calendar days if the holder is selling more than the
minimum number of shares. For intermediate share amounts, a
pro-rata payment period would be calculated (based on the num-
ber of shares put). Any amount due would accrue interest at the
Company’s revolving credit facility rate from the date of exercise
until the payment date. 

14. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock and stockholders’ rights plan
The Company has authorized 25 million shares of $0.01 par value
preferred stock, of which 1 million shares were designated as
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock for the stockholders’
rights plan. Under this plan, each share of the Company’s com-
mon stock carries with it one-half of one right to purchase one
one-hundredth of a share of preferred stock. The rights will at no
time have voting power or pay dividends. The rights will become
exercisable if a person or group acquires or announces a tender
offer that would result in the acquisition of 15 percent or more of
the Company’s common stock. When exercisable, each full right
entitles a holder to buy one one-hundredth of a share of Series 
A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $120. If the
Company is involved in a merger or other business combination
with a stockholder holding at least 15 percent of the Company’s
outstanding voting securities, each full right will entitle a holder
to buy a number of the acquiring company’s shares having a
value of twice the exercise price of the right. Alternatively, if a 15
percent stockholder engages in certain self-dealing transactions
or acquires the Company in such a manner that Corn Products
International, Inc. and its common stock survive, or if any person
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acquires 15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock,
except pursuant to an offer for all shares at a fair price, each full
right not owned by a stockholder holding at least 15 percent of
the Company’s outstanding voting securities may be exercised
for Corn Products International, Inc. common stock (or, in certain
circumstances, other consideration) having a market value of
twice the exercise price of the right. The Company may redeem
the rights for one cent each at any time before an acquisition of
15 percent or more of its voting securities. Unless redeemed ear-
lier, the rights will expire on December 31, 2007.

Common Stock
On December 1, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors declared
a two-for-one stock split effected as a 100-percent stock dividend
on the Company’s common stock. The dividend shares were
issued on January 25, 2005 to shareholders of record at the close
of business on January 4, 2005. Accordingly, all share and per
share data for the periods presented in this report have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.

Treasury Stock
During 2004, the Company issued, from treasury, 31,280 restricted
common shares and 2,195,010 common shares upon the exercise
of stock options under the stock incentive plan and 4,490 common
shares under other incentive plans. During 2003, the Company
issued, from treasury, 16,000 restricted common shares and
400,564 common shares upon the exercise of stock options under
the stock incentive plan. Also in 2003, the Company issued, from
treasury, 541,584 common shares in connection with the purchase
of the remaining interest in the Southern Cone of South America
business. During 2002, the Company issued, from treasury,
140,000 restricted common shares and 353,624 common shares
upon the exercise of stock options under the stock incentive plan.
Also, in connection with the CP Ingredientes acquisition, the
Company issued, from treasury, 140,000 common shares in 2002. 

The Company retired 34,832, 34,124 and 38,252 shares of its
common stock to treasury during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively, by both repurchasing shares from employees under the
stock incentive plan and through the cancellation of forfeited
restricted stock. The Company repurchased shares from employees
at average purchase prices of $24.58, $15.20, and $14.88, or fair
value at the date of purchase, during 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. All of the acquired shares are held as common 
stock in treasury, less shares issued to employees under the
stock incentive plan.

On February 9, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors author-
ized a stock repurchase program that permits the Company to
purchase up to 4 million shares of its outstanding common stock
over a five-year period. The Company’s previously authorized
stock repurchase program expired on January 20, 2005. At both
December 31, 2004 and 2003, 5,099,300 shares had been repur-
chased under the previous stock repurchase program at a total
cost of approximately $64 million. 

Set forth below is a reconciliation of common stock share
activity for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

(Shares of common stock, Held in Redeemable
in thousands) Issued Treasury Shares Outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2001 75,320 4,508 3,687 67,125

Issuance in connection 

with acquisition – (140) 140 –

Issuance of restricted stock 

as compensation – (140) – 140

Stock options exercised – (354) – 354

Purchase/acquisition of 

treasury stock – 38 – (38)

Balance at December 31, 2002 75,320 3,912 3,827 67,581

Issuance in connection 

with acquisition – (542) – 542

Issuance of restricted stock 

as compensation – (16) – 16

Stock options exercised – (400) – 400

Purchase/acquisition of 

treasury stock – 34 – (34)

Balance at December 31, 2003 75,320 2,988 3,827 68,505

Elimination of redemption 

requirement – – (2,600) 2,600

Issuance of restricted stock 

as compensation – (31) – 31

Issuance under incentive and 

other plans – (5) – 5

Stock options exercised – (2,195) – 2,195

Purchase/acquisition of 

treasury stock – 35 – (35)

Balance at December 31, 2004 75,320 792 1,227 73,301

Stock Incentive Plan
The Company has established a stock incentive plan for certain
key employees. In addition, following the spin-off from CPC, all
existing CPC stock options held by Company employees were
converted to stock options to acquire Corn Products International,
Inc. common stock. These stock options retained their original
vesting schedules and expiration dates. The Company granted
additional nonqualified options to purchase 1,071,300, 1,061,800
and 1,046,800 shares of the Company’s common stock during
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These options are exercisable
upon vesting, which occurs in 50 percent increments at the one-
and two-year anniversary dates of the date of grant. As of
December 31, 2004, certain of these nonqualified options have
been forfeited due to the termination of employees.

In addition to stock options, the Company awards shares of
restricted stock to certain key employees. The cost of these awards is
being amortized to expense over the applicable restriction periods.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using
the intrinsic value method. Pro forma disclosures of net income
and earnings per share, assuming the fair value method was
used to account for stock options under SFAS 123, are provided in
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Note 2 of these Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in
the section entitled “Stock-based compensation.” For purposes of
making the pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair market value
of stock option awards is amortized to expense over the applica-
ble vesting period. The fair value of the stock option awards was
estimated at the grant dates using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions for 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.02 percent,
3.7 percent and 3.82 percent in 2004, 2003 and 2002; volatility
factor of 22 percent, 20 percent and 24 percent in 2004, 2003 and
2002; and a weighted average expected life of the awards of 6.46
years, 7.52 years and 6.92 years in 2004, 2003 and 2002. A divi-
dend yield of 0.94 percent, 1.22 percent and 1.32 percent was
assumed for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

The Black-Scholes model requires the input of highly subjective
assumptions and does not necessarily provide a reliable measure
of fair value.

A summary of stock option and restricted stock transactions
for the last three years follows: 

Weighted 
Average Shares of

Stock Option Stock Option Exercise Restricted
(shares in thousands) Shares Price Range Price Stock

Outstanding at 

December 31, 2001 5,808 $÷6.95 to $16.16 $14.03 340

Granted 1,047 14.32 to 16.56 14.40 140

Exercised/vested (354) 7.50 to 16.16 12.65 (32)

Cancelled (201) 7.50 to 16.16 13.79 (12)

Outstanding at 

December 31, 2002 6,300 6.95 to 16.56 14.17 436

Granted 1,062 14.88 to 16.92 16.85 16

Exercised/vested (378) 6.95 to 16.16 12.45 (26)

Cancelled (97) 14.32 to 16.16 15.08 (26)

Outstanding at 

December 31, 2003 6,887 6.95 to 16.92 14.67 400

Granted 1,071 17.65 to 24.70 24.66 31

Exercised/vested (2,196) 6.95 to 16.92 13.88 (91)

Cancelled (40) 14.32 to 16.92 16.06 (15)

Outstanding at 

December 31, 2004 5,722 $10.12 to $24.70 $16.83 325

The following table summarizes information about stock options
outstanding at December 31, 2004: 

Weighted Average Weighted
Average Remaining Average

(shares in thousands) Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Price Life (Years) Exercisable Price

$ 9.8791 to 12.3487 305 $11.29 4.7 305 $11.29

$12.3488 to 14.8185 2,167 14.10 6.3 2,167 14.10

$14.8186 to 17.2882 2,179 16.47 5.7 1,681 16.34

$17.2883 to 19.7580 6 17.65 9.0 – –

$19.7581 to 24.6975 1,065 24.70 9.8 – –

5,722 $16.83 6.6 4,153 $14.80
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The number of options exercisable at December 31, 2004 and
2003 was 4.2 million and 5.4 million, respectively. The weighted
average fair value of options granted during 2004, 2003, and
2002 was $7.05, $4.45, and $4.17, respectively.

15. Segment Information
The Company operates in one business segment, corn refining,
and is managed on a geographic regional basis. Its North America
operations include corn-refining businesses in the United States,
Canada and Mexico and, prior to the December 2002 dissolution
of CPMCP, its then non-consolidated equity interest in that entity.
This region also included EBS until it was sold in February 2002.
The Company’s South America operations include corn-refining
businesses in Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and the Southern
Cone of South America, which includes Argentina, Chile and
Uruguay. The Company’s Asia/Africa operations include corn-
refining businesses in Korea, Pakistan, Malaysia and Kenya, 
and a tapioca root processing operation in Thailand. 

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Net sales to unaffiliated customers (a):

North America $1,419 $1,329 $1,219

South America 556 495 401

Asia/Africa 308 278 251

Total $2,283 $2,102 $1,871

Operating income (b):

North America $÷«÷87 $÷«÷68 $÷«÷56

South America 98 83 58

Asia/Africa 48 54 54

Corporate (33) (31) (23)

Plant closing costs (c) (21) – –

Non-recurring earnings – – 8

Total $«÷179 $«÷174 $«÷153

Total assets (d):

North America $1,411 $1,386 $1,369

South America 521 468 360

Asia/Africa 435 362 339

Total $2,367 $2,216 $2,068

Depreciation and amortization:

North America $÷÷«74 $÷÷«76 $÷÷«80

South America 20 18 17

Asia/Africa 8 7 6

Total $«÷102 $«÷101 $«÷103

Capital expenditures:

North America $÷«÷58 $÷«÷31 $÷«÷41

South America 31 30 16

Asia/Africa 15 22 21

Total $«÷104 $÷«÷83 $÷«÷78

Sales between segments for each of the periods presented are insignificant and therefore 
are not presented.

Includes earnings from non-controlled affiliates accounted for under the equity method 
as follows: South America – $1 million in each of 2004, 2003 and 2002; North America – 
$6 million in 2002. 

Includes a $19 million write-off of fixed assets and a $2 million charge for employee termination
costs pertaining to the Company’s manufacturing optimization initiative in Mexico and South
America. See also Note 6. 

Includes investments in non-controlled affiliates accounted for under the equity method 
as follows: South America – $4 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and $3 million at
December 31, 2002. 

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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The following table presents net sales to unaffiliated customers
by country of origin for the last three years:

Net Sales

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

United States $÷«765 $÷«738 $÷«605

Mexico 383 331 332

Canada 271 260 281

Brazil 288 251 195

Korea 187 170 162

Argentina 106 102 63

Others 283 250 233

Total $2,283 $2,102 $1,871

The following table presents long-lived assets by country at
December 31:

Long-lived Assets

(in millions) 2004 2003 2002

United States $«÷407 $«÷406 $«÷433

Mexico 394 426 433

Canada 173 165 147

Brazil 125 112 88

Korea 243 212 210

Argentina 117 116 67

Others 175 171 146

Total $1,634 $1,608 $1,524

Supplemental Financial Information

Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data
Summarized quarterly financial data is as follows:

(in millions, 
except per share amounts) 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

2004

Net sales before shipping 

and handling costs $«592 $«616 $«633 $«620

Less: shipping and 

handling costs 42 44 46 46

Net sales $«550 $«572 $«587 $«574

Gross profit 95 92 83 85

Net income 26 30 24 14

Basic earnings per 

common share* $0.35 $0.40 $0.33 $0.19

Diluted earnings per 

common share* $0.35 $0.40 $0.32 $0.19

Per share amounts have been adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split effective January 25, 2005.

Includes a charge of $21 million ($15 million after-tax, or $0.20 per diluted common share) to
write off fixed assets and record employee termination costs associated with a manufacturing
optimization initiative in Mexico and South America (see also Note 6). Additionally, the Company
reduced its annual effective income tax rate to 30 percent (from 33 percent used for the nine
months ended September 30, 2004) to reflect the favorable impact of new tax legislation in 
various countries in which the Company conducts business. The Company’s effective income 
tax rate for the fourth quarter and full year 2003 was 36 percent. 

(in millions, 
except per share amounts) 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

2003

Net sales before shipping 

and handling costs $518 $583 $583 $585

Less: shipping and 

handling costs 39 44 42 42

Net sales $479 $539 $541 $543

Gross profit 69 79 84 93

Net income 14 18 20 24

Basic earnings per 

common share* $0.19 $0.25 $0.28 $0.34

Diluted earnings per 

common share* $0.19 $0.25 $0.28 $0.34

Per share amounts have been adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split effective January 25, 2005.

Common Stock Market Prices and Dividends*

The Company’s common stock is listed and traded on the New York
Stock Exchange. The following table sets forth, for the periods
indicated, the high, low and closing market prices of the common
stock and common stock cash dividends.

1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

2004

Market price range of 

common stock

High $20.04 $23.29 $23.80 $27.92

Low 17.22 19.81 20.63 22.72

Close 20.00 23.28 23.05 26.78

Dividends declared per 

common share $÷0.06 $÷0.06 $÷0.06 $÷0.07

2003

Market price range of 

common stock

High $15.74 $16.25 $16.75 $18.13

Low 13.57 14.38 14.45 15.99

Close 14.58 15.02 15.93 17.23

Dividends declared per 

common share $÷0.05 $÷0.05 $÷0.05 $÷0.06

Per share amounts have been adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split effective January 25, 2005.

At December 31, 2004, there were 10,134 shareholders of
record of the Company’s common stock. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(in millions, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

Summary of operations

Net sales $2,283 $2,102 $1,871 $1,887 $1,865 $1,735 $1,448 $1,418 $1,524 $1,387

Net income (loss) as previously reported 94 76 63 57 48 77 43 (75) 23 135

Adjustment for effect of a change 

in accounting for inventories – – – – – (3) – (1) 2 1

Net income (loss) as adjusted 94 76 63 57 48 74 43 (76) 25 136

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:

Net income (loss) as previously reported $÷1.28 $÷1.06 $÷0.89 $÷0.80 $÷0.68 $÷1.03 $÷0.59 $«(1.05) $÷0.32 $÷1.90

Adjustment for effect of a change 

in accounting for inventories – – – – – (0.04) – (0.02) 0.03 0.01

Net income (loss) as adjusted $÷1.28 $÷1.06 $÷0.89 $÷0.80 $÷0.68 $÷0.99 $÷0.59 $«(1.07) $÷0.35 $÷1.91

Cash dividends declared per common share $÷0.25 $÷0.21 $÷0.20 $÷0.20 $÷0.20 $÷0.18 $÷0.08 – – –

Balance sheet data

Working capital $÷«199 $÷«153 $«÷138 $÷(120) $÷«÷69 $«÷104 $÷«÷46 $÷÷(83) $«÷151 $÷«÷33

Property, plant and equipment – net 1,211 1,187 1,154 1,293 1,407 1,349 1,298 1,057 1,057 920

Total assets 2,367 2,216 2,068 2,240 2,339 2,217 1,956 1,676 1,676 1,315

Total debt 568 550 600 756 720 544 404 350 350 363

Redeemable common stock** 33 67 58 64 47 57 50 – – –

Stockholders’ equity** 1,081 911 770 793 913 973 1,009 992 1,033 606

Shares outstanding, year end 74.5 72.3 71.4 70.8 70.5 73.9 75.1 71.2 – –

Additional data

Depreciation and amortization $«÷102 $«÷101 $«÷103 $«÷127 $«÷135 $«÷122 $÷«÷95 $÷«÷95 $÷«÷88 $÷«÷82

Capital expenditures 104 83 78 94 143 162 91 100 192 188

Maintenance and repairs 81 81 72 82 78 84 67 69 61 65

All share and per share amounts have been adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split effective January 25, 2005. Additionally, all periods prior to 2000 have been retroactively restated to reflect the change 
in accounting for inventories effective January 1, 2000.

Amounts have been restated to reflect the reclassification of redeemable common stock from stockholders’ equity for periods from 1998 through 2002. 

Note: 1997 and prior per share amounts are pro forma and have been computed by dividing net income (loss) by the shares outstanding, which were 71.2 million at December 31, 1997, the date that 
the Company was spun off from CPC International, Inc. For the purpose of this calculation, the shares outstanding at December 31, 1997 were assumed to be outstanding for all periods prior.
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Board of Directors

Richard J. Almeida 2, 4

Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Heller Financial, Inc.

A commercial finance and 

investment company

Luis Aranguren4

Executive President

Arancia Industrial, S.A. de C.V.

A multi-business conglomerate

Guenther E. Greiner 2, 4

President

International Corporate 

Consultancy LLC

A global finance-consulting firm

Ronald M. Gross 2, 3

Chairman Emeritus, 

Former Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

Rayonier, Inc.

A global supplier of specialty

pulps, timber and wood products

Karen L. Hendricks 3, 4

Former Chairman, President 

and Chief Executive Officer

Baldwin Piano and 

Organ Company

A maker of fine musical instruments

Bernard H. Kastory 1

Professor, Department of 

Management and Business

Skidmore College

Barbara A. Klein 1

Senior Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer

CDW Corporation

A technology products and 

services business

William S. Norman 2, 3

Former President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Travel Industry Association 

of America

A non-profit association 

representing the US travel industry

James M. Ringler 1, 3

Former Vice Chairman

Illinois Tool Works Inc.

A multinational manufacturer 

of highly engineered products 

and specialty systems

Samuel C. Scott III

Chairman, President 

and Chief Executive Officer

Corn Products International, Inc.

Clifford B. Storms1

Private Attorney

1 Audit Committee  
2 Compensation Committee  
3 Corporate Governance and 

Nominating Committee  
4 Finance Committee

Directors and Officers

Corporate Officers

Samuel C. Scott III

Chairman, President and 

Chief Executive Officer

Cheryl K. Beebe

Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer

Marcia E. Doane

Vice President, General

Counsel and Corporate

Secretary

Jorge L. Fiamenghi

Vice President and 

President, South America

Division

Jack C. Fortnum

Vice President and President,

North America Division

Jeffrey B. Hebble

Vice President and President,

Asia/Africa Division

James J. Hirchak

Vice President, 

Human Resources

Kimberly A. Hunter

Treasurer

Robin A. Kornmeyer

Vice President and Controller

James W. Ripley

Senior Vice President, 

Planning, Information

Technology and Compliance

Richard M. Vandervoort

Vice President, Strategic

Business Development,

Investor Relations, 

and Government and

Regulatory Affairs
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Shareholder Information

Reports and Publications

Copies of the Annual Report, Form 10-K and Form 10-Q may be

obtained by written request to Mark Lindley, Director, Corporate

Communications, at the corporate headquarters address, by 

calling (708) 563-5399 or by visiting the Company’s Web site,

http://www.cornproducts.com.

Institutional Investor Inquiries

Securities analysts and investors seeking information about Corn

Products International, Inc. may contact Richard M. Vandervoort 

by writing to the corporate headquarters address or by calling

(708) 551-2595.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street - 11E

New York, New York 10286

(866) 517-4574 in the United States or (610) 312-5303 outside of 

the United States. 

E-mail address: shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

Internet address: http://www.stockbny.com

Shareholder Inquiries

Inquiries regarding dividend payments, loss or non-receipt of a

dividend check, stock transfers (including name changes, gifts

and inheritances), lost stock certificates, Form 1099 information

and address changes should be directed to the Registrar and

Transfer Agent as listed above.

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

303 East Wacker Drive

Chicago, Illinois 60601

(312) 665-1000

Stock Exchange Listing

The Company is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the

symbol CPO.

Corporate Headquarters

Corn Products International, Inc.

5 Westbrook Corporate Center

Westchester, Illinois 60154

(708) 551-2600

Internet Address

http://www.cornproducts.com

On June 11, 2004, we submitted to the New York Stock Exchange 

a certification signed by our Chief Executive Officer that as of

June 10, 2004, he was not aware of any violation by us of the

NYSE corporate governance listing standards. In addition, the 

certifications signed by our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief

Financial Officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act were filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K 

for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Corn Products International, Inc., is a leading provider of agriculturally based ingredients to a wide variety of industries around the world.

Headquartered in Westchester, Illinois, our Company is the world’s largest producer of dextrose and a leading regional manufacturer of

starches, glucose, syrups and other ingredients found in literally thousands of products. We supply customers in a number of industries,

including food, beverage, animal nutrition and health, pharmaceutical, brewing, corrugated, paper and textile.

Our Mission

To become the premier

regional provider of refined,

agriculturally derived products

and ingredients worldwide

Our Core Values

– Integrity

– Excellence

– Respect

– Financial Success

Our Strategy

– Excel at the base business

– Selectively drive organic

growth in the base business

– Expand our value-added 

product portfolio through

multi-geographic alliances and

acquisitions across the Corn

Products International world

– Grow defensible businesses

in new high-growth regions

by extending and establishing

critical mass

– Be an ingredients supplier 
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